Progress in Lipid Research 49 (2010) 27-45



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Lipid Research



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/plipres

Review

Mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis – An adopted set of enzymes making a pathway of major importance for the cellular metabolism

J. Kalervo Hiltunen*, Zhijun Chen, Antti M. Haapalainen, Rik K. Wierenga, Alexander J. Kastaniotis

Department of Biochemistry and Biocenter Oulu, University of Oulu, P.O.B. 3000, FI-90014 Oulu, Finland

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Mitochondria Metabolism Lipids Enzymes Regulation

ABSTRACT

The highly conserved fatty acid *de novo* synthesis pathway in mitochondria proceeds in an acyl carrier protein-dependent manner through a discrete set of enzymes. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* has served as a model for studies of mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis type II (FAS II) and as a template for identification of mammalian components. Inactivation of mitochondrial FAS II in yeast results in respiratory deficiency and loss of cytochromes. The pathway produces the octanoyl-ACP substrate for lipoic acid synthesis, but several pieces of evidence indicate that it is capable of the generation of longer fatty acids. A number of structures of mitochondrial FAS II enzymes have been published in the past few years, allowing for a comparison with their prokaryotic counterparts, several of which have been described as promising targets for antibiotics. Recently, novel links between mitochondrial FAS and RNA processing in yeast and vertebrates have been reported. In *S. cerevisiae*, deficiency in mitochondrial 3-hydroxyacyl thioester dehydratase and the RPP14 subunit of RNase P are encoded by the same bicistronic transcript. The first publications linking mitochondrial FAS II to disease states in mammals are emerging.

© 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Intro	duction	28			
2.	Enzy	Enzymology				
	2.1.	Phosphopantetheinyl transferase (PPTase)				
		2.1.1. The crystal structure of human PPTase	29			
		2.1.2. The reaction mechanism of PPTase	31			
	2.2.	Malonyl-CoA:ACP transacylase (MCAT)	31			
		2.2.1. The crystal structure of MCAT	31			
		2.2.2. The reaction mechanism of MCAT	31			
	2.3.	3-Ketoacyl-ACP synthase/condensing enzyme (KAS/CEM1)	31			
		2.3.1. Crystal structures, active site geometries and reaction mechanisms of KAS enzymes	32			
	2.4.	3-Ketoacyl reductase (KAR)	33			
	2.5.	3-Hydroxyacyl thioester dehydratase (HTD)	35			
		2.5.1. Structures of HTDs	35			
	2.6.	Enoyl thioester reductase (ETR)	35			
		2.6.1. Prokaryotic ETRs	36			
		2.6.2. Eukaryotic ETRs	36			
3.	Acyl	Acyl carrier protein (ACP) as protein and interaction with FAS enzymes.				
	3.1.	The structures of apo-ACP, holo-ACP and acyl-ACP	38			
	3.2.	Interaction of ACP with FAS enzymes	38			

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +358 8 5531150; fax: +358 8 5531141.

Abbreviations: ACC, acetyl-CoA carboxylase; ACP, acyl carrier protein; FAS, fatty acid synthesis; BC, biotin carboxylase; BCC, biotin-carboxy carrier protein; BPL, biotin:protein ligase; CT, carboxytransferase; ETR, enoyl thioester reductase; HTD, 3-hydroxyacyl thioester dehydratase; MCAT, malonyl-CoA:ACP transacylase; KAS/CEM1, 3-ketoacyl synthetase/condenzing enzyme; KAR, 3-ketoacyl reductase; PKS, polyketide synthase; PPTase, phosphopantetheine:protein transferase.

E-mail address: kalervo.hiltunen@oulu.fi (J.K. Hiltunen).

^{0163-7827/\$ -} see front matter @ 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2009.08.001

4.	The source of mitochondrial malonyl-CoA				
	4.1. Alternative modes of malonyl-CoA generation	. 39			
	4.2. Comments on biotinylation of apo-ACC, biotin:apoprotein ligase	. 39			
5.	Octanoyl-ACP, lipoic acid and other products	40			
	5.1. Lipoic acid as a vitamin	. 40			
6.	Mitochondrial FAS and RNA processing	. 40			
7.	Comments and future directions	41			
	Acknowledgements	42			
	References	42			

1. Introduction

The research interest in mitochondria has been drifting on tides. This is exemplified by an anecdote told by Michael Yaffe during a Gordon conference on mitochondria and chloroplasts in 2006. when he recounted a conversation he had had, early in his career as a researcher in the 1980s, with a senior scientist. He had been asked about his future research plans, and his reply - indicating an interest in mitochondria- earned him a reaction of surprise and disbelief, as "everything important was already known" about this organelle – or so it was thought. Since then, major discoveries on many previously unknown or neglected aspects of mitochondrial physiology and biochemistry have brought these organelles into the spotlight of research interest in the field of life sciences. These observations include aspects of mitochondrial morphology maintenance, fusion and fission events, mitochondrial-nuclear crosstalk, mitochondrial DNA replication, transcription and translation and their regulation, iron-sulfur cluster biogenesis, the role of mitochondria in apoptosis, human disease, and mitochondrial inheritance as tool for tracking maternal lineages. This repertoire of processes illustrates the fact that the mitochondrial contribution to cell physiology goes far beyond the function of a cellular power plant that it was regarded as until the late 1980s. In light of the progress made during the last two decades in our understanding of mitochondrial roles within the cell, this organelle now rather appears like a cellular conglomerate involved in a multitude of processes and churning out a large number of essential products.

Among the recently recognized features of mitochondrial functions, in yeast as well as humans, is their ability to synthesize fatty acids in an acyl carrier protein (ACP)-dependent manner. This mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis (FAS) pathway follows the bacterial type II FAS (FAS II) mode (Fig. 1), with separate polypeptides carrying out the individual reactions [1]. In contrast, eukaryotic cytosolic type I FAS is performed by multifunctional proteins. Occurrence of FAS in two subcellular compartments in eukaryotic cells raises the question why eukaryotes have maintained a bacterial type FAS in their mitochondria in addition to the "classic" cytoplasmic FAS. The mitochondrial pathway is best described in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* [2], where deletion of any member of the mitochondrial FAS pathway leads to a respiratory deficient phenotype, lack of cytochromes, and a decrease in lipoic acid, indicating that this pathway is essential for mitochondrial function [3].

ACP from *Neurospora crassa* was isolated as a first component of mitochondrial FAS pathway [4]. Since then, a mitochondrial form of ACP has been demonstrated to be present in other eukaryotes and most of the other FAS components have been characterized in yeast and humans. Most of eukaryotic FAS II enzymes show amino acid sequence similarities to their prokaryotic counterparts, and hence data base mining has been a frequently used technique in the quest for the identification of mitochondrial equivalents in eukaryotes. Furthermore, several prokaryotic homologs have been shown to rescue the respiratory deficient phenotype if expressed as mitochondrially targeted variants in corresponding yeast null mutants. To date, ACP, phosphopantetheine transferase (PPTase) [5], malonyl transferase (MCAT) [6], β -ketoacyl-ACP synthase (KAS) [7], 3-hydroxyacyl-thioester dehydratase (HTD) [8], enoyl thioester reductase (ETR) [9] of the human mitochondrial FAS II pathway, and very recently also the last enzyme of the mammalian pathway, 3-ketoacyl reductase (KAR) have been identified [10].

This review aims to summarize the current knowledge on proteins involved with mitochondrial FAS II and to provide a glimpse into its role in the physiology of the cell. We will focus on properties and structural aspects of the enzyme components of this pathway (Table 1) in comparison to known prokaryotic structures. We will also put emphasis on the mitochondrial FAS pathway in yeast because most of our current understanding has been obtained through this model organism.

2. Enzymology

2.1. Phosphopantetheinyl transferase (PPTase)

Both fatty acid synthesis and breakdown in β-oxidation proceed with acyl substrates attached via a thioester bond to phosphopantetheine (Fig. 2). The CoA molecule which contains the phosphopantetheine also serves as the donor for phosphopantetheine when holo-ACP is generated in a reaction catalysed by phosphopantetheine:protein transferase (PPTase). PPTases comprise an enzyme superfamily in which the proteins are sorted into three separate subgroups based on amino acid sequence similarities and structural characteristics of the polypeptides [11,12]. Group I contains enzymes most similar to Escherichia coli AcpS PPTase/holo-ACP synthase, typically 120 amino acids long and essential in most prokaryotes for ACP-mediated FAS. The N-termini of these proteins form mainly α -helices, while the Ctermini folds into β -strands that arrange into a β -sheet. These α/β domain proteins assemble into trimers to form the active AcpS-type enzyme [13,14]. Group II is made up of proteins that are commonly found to be associated with nonribosomal peptide synthesis systems. These enzymes are approximately twice as long as Group I PPTases and exemplified by the Bacillus subtilis Sfb protein [15], which is required for the production of the peptide antibiotic surfactin, and accepts a wide range of substrate proteins for phosphopantetheine transfer [11]. The crystal structure of the enzyme revealed a monomeric protein folding into two individual domains of nearly identical structure and pseudo-2-fold symmetry. The individual domains display a strong similarity to the AcpS monomers [16]. The third enzymatic group encompasses PPTase domains covalently attached to multifunctional enzymes such as the S. cerevisiae Fas2p subunit of the cytosolic fatty acid synthase, which are specific for the associated ACP domain [17–19]. The yeast genome also encodes two additional proteins that display sequence similarity to bacterial PPTases. The LYS5 gene codes for a PPTase required for activation of the Lys2p alpha-aminoadipate reductase involved in lysine biosynthesis [20]. The yeast candidate gene for mitochondrial PPTase (PPT2/YPL148c) was identified based on sequence similarity to the Ppt1p Brevibacterium ammoniagenes and E. coli AcpS PPTases [21]. Deletion of the



Fig. 1. The mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis pathway. The octanoyl group (C8) is one product of FAS II used for the synthesis of lipoic acid. The source of mammalian mitochondrial malonyl-CoA has not yet been confirmed. The BPL enzyme, which converts apo-ACC to holo-ACC, has not been identified in human. The properties and cofactor preferences for mitochondrial KAR can be either NADH or NADPH, dependent on the species. For abbreviations, see text and list of abbreviations.

YPL148c ORF in *S. cerevisiae* resulted in respiratory deficient cells unable to produce the pantetheinylated holo-form of ACP, and the purified yeast Ppt2p was sufficient to pantetheinylate yeast mitochondrial ACP *in vitro*. Surprisingly, the human genome only appears to encode a PPTase homologous to the yeast Lys5p, a protein required to activate alpha-aminoadipate reductase to its phosphopantetheinylated holo-form [22]. The human enzyme displayed broad substrate specificity and the ability to transfer the phosphopantetheine group to human mitochondrial ACP [5].

2.1.1. The crystal structure of human PPTase

The crystal structure of human PPTase was solved for the apoform as well as for co-crystals with CoA and Mg^{2+} and also with CoA and a mutated form of the substrate ACP domain of the human

Table 1

FAS type II and related proteins. The table lists all the structures of eukaryotic FAS II and related proteins found in PDB by the end of 2008.

PDB code	Protein	Origin	Subcellular location	Related PDB entries
2qnw	Acyl carrier protein	Toxoplasma gondii rh	Apicoplast	
3ce7	Acyl carrier protein	Toxoplasma gondii rh	Mitochondrion	
2bdd	Acyl carrier protein synthase	Plasmodium yoelii yoelii	Unknown	2qg8
2byd	Phosphopantetheine transferase	Homo sapiens	Cytoplasm	2c43, 2cg5
1w93	Biotin carboxylase domain of ACC	Saccharomyces cerevisiae		1w96
1od2	Carboxyltransferase domain of ACC	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Cytoplasm	1od4, 1uyr, 1uys, 1uyt, 1uyv, 1w2x
2hjw	Biotin carboxylase domain of ACC2	Homo sapiens	Intracytoplasmic membranes	
2c2n	Malonyl-CoA:ACP transacylase	Homo sapiens	Mitochondrion	
2c9h	β-Ketoacyl-ACP synthase	Homo sapiens	Mitochondrion	2iwy, 2iwz
1w0i	β-Ketoacyl-ACP synthase II	Arabidopsis thaliana	Mitochondrion	2ix4
2c07	β-Ketoacyl-ACP reductase	Plasmodium falciparum	Apicoplast	
1edo	β-Ketoacyl-ACP reductase	Brassica napus	Chloroplast	
1z6b	β-Hydroxyacyl-ACP dehydratase	Plasmodium falciparum	Apicoplast	1zhg, 2okh, 2oki
2vcy	2-Enoyl thioester reductase	Homo sapiens	Mitochondrion	1zsy
1gu7	2-Enoyl thioester reductase (Etr1p)	Candida tropicalis	Mitochondrion	1guf, 1gyr
1h0k	2-Enoyl thioester reductase (Etr2p)	Candida tropicalis	Mitochondrion	
1v35	Enoyl-ACP reductase	Plasmodium falciparum	Apicoplast	1uh5, 2nq8, 1zxb, 1zxl, 2ol4, 2oos,
1vrw	Enoyl-ACP reductase	Plasmodium falciparum	Apicoplast	1nhg, 1nnu, 1nhw, 1zw1, 2op0, 2op1,
2o2y	Enoyl-ACP reductase	Plasmodium falciparum	Apicoplast	2foi
2ptg	Enoyl-ACP reductase	Eimeria tenella	Apicoplast	
2050	Enoyl-ACP reductase	Toxoplasma gondii	Apicoplast	2o2s
1eno	Enoyl-ACP reductase	Brassica napus	Chloroplast	1enp, 1d7o, 1cwu

•[Organisms	Synthesis (de novo)			β-Oxidation		
		cytosol	mitochondria	chloroplasts	cytosol	mitochondria	peroxisomes
-	Bacteria	+			+		
	Fungi	+	+] [5 7 .		+
	Animals	+	+] [-	+	+
	Plants	±	+	+	-	-	+



Fig. 2. Subcellular localization and interrelationship of fatty acid breakdown *via* β-oxidation and *de novo* synthesis in different species. Panel A summarizes the localization of the processes in various subcellular compartments of different organisms. Only compartments where fatty acids are known to be synthesized *de novo* starting from an acetyl group are indicated, and therefore, for instance the endoplasmic reticulum harboring the fatty acid elongation system is excluded. As shown in the Panel B, both fatty acid synthesis and β-oxidation require acyl-groups attached by a thioester bond to 4'-phosphopantetheine linked either to CoA (β-oxidation) or ACP (synthesis).

FAS protein, where the phosphopantetheine-accepting serine was replaced by an alanine residue (Ser2156Ala) to allow the establishment of the stable ternary complex [23]. Human PPTase resembles most closely the *B. subtilis* Sfp protein [16]. Two almost identical AcpS-like domains, differing in N/C-terminal extensions of 16 and 42 residues, respectively, are connected by a single residue linker in human PPT [23]. The domain extensions are unique for the human enzyme and may be involved in the proper positioning of

the domains for optimal catalysis. The cleft between the two domains serves as ACP binding interface, directing the orientation of ACP by interaction of three hydrophobic patches on the PPTase with hydrophobic "islands" on ACP. The latter is thus positioned to present the phophopantetheine-accepting residue – in the structure an alanine, but a serine in the wild type protein – to the bound CoA. Mg²⁺ and CoA itself gather in a shallow groove at the interface of the two domains, in agreement with the binding of these cofactors in Sfp. Mg²⁺ is coordinated by two acidic amino acid side chains and phosphate groups of CoA, but not required for CoA binding. The pantetheine moiety of the latter apparently points away from the active site in the presence of ACP to prevent collision with this protein. CoA is bound in a bent state, with the pyrophosphate at the apex of the bend. Catalysis of the transfer of the phosphopantetheine moiety is initiated by CoA and Mg²⁺ binding, after which ACP joins the complex.

2.1.2. The reaction mechanism of PPTase

It was suggested that the catalytic residue Glu181 of PPTase abstracts a proton form the ACP-Ser OH group. In this model, the resulting hydroxylate group subsequently engages in a nucleophilic attack on the β -phosphate of CoA, ultimately leading to the cleavage of the pyrophosphate and attachement of the phosphopantetheine to ACP. This mechanism is similar to one of the proposed mechanisms for Sfp [24], and differs fundamentally from the mode of action proposed for AcpS, where a water molecule has been suggested to act as the catalytic base [13,14].

A puzzling remaining question concerns the compartment in which the PPTase modifies mitochondrial ACP. As the human enzyme is not predicted to be imported into mitochondria, and subcellular localization studies place it in the cytosol [5], ACP maturation may have to occur in the cytosol, and mature ACP would have to be imported into mitochondria, in contrast to the situation in yeast, where Ppt2p is a mitochondrial protein. Alternatively, a yet undetected transcript variant from which a mitochondrially localized PPTase can be expressed may exist in humans. Further investigation of this gene and its product(s) is required to determine in which compartment phosphopantetheinylation of human ACP occurs.

2.2. Malonyl-CoA:ACP transacylase (MCAT)

Malonyl-CoA:ACP transacylase (malonyltransferase, MCAT) catalyses one of the early reactions of fatty acid biosynthesis and was first characterized from E. coli [25-27]. The S. cerevisiae MCT1 gene encoding the putative yeast mitochondrial malonyl-CoA:ACP transacylase was identified by its homology to the bacterial enzyme [28]. Disruption of MCT1 in yeast led to respiratory deficient cells lacking mitochondrially encoded cytochromes. The studies with the human ortholog showed that the Homo sapiens MCAT was localized in the mitochondria and was specific for the malonyl-CoA substrate [6]. Human MCAT did not form the acetylated intermediate when the enzyme was incubated with acetyl-CoA. Moreover, the enzyme recognized only the ACP of FAS II but not the ACP domain of the FAS I pathway. Therefore, human MCAT transferred the malonyl group exclusively and only to mitochondrial ACP. The first inhibitor of a bacterial MCAT, corytuberine, which acts in a non-competitive fashion was recently reported [29].

2.2.1. The crystal structure of MCAT

To date, crystal structures of MCAT from various bacteria and human have been obtained. While MCATs from different species share a very similar overall fold, there are some differences in the secondary structure elements [30,31]. MCAT is a monomer with its active site located in a cavity between the two subdomains. The larger of these subdomains has a core similar to α/β hydrolases consisting of central parallel β -sheet surrounded by α -helices; some of the helices of this major subdomain form a flap above the core. The smaller subdomain has a ferredoxin-like fold with a four stranded anti-parallel β -sheet shielded by two α -helices as seen also in acylphosphatases. In the liganded structures, the two subdomains are located closer to each other when compared to their position in the apo enzyme [32,33], suggesting a slight hinge motion upon substrate binding similar to the rearrangement observed with Etr1p of FAS II pathway [34].

There are few interesting fine details in the active site of MCAT. The serine acting as the nucleophile is located at the end of a sharp turn between a β -strand and the N-terminus of the α -helix in a major subdomain. This structure resembles the so called nucleophilic elbow characteristic of α/β hydrolases [35]. The positive electrostatic potential of the N-terminus of the α -helix together with the localization of the serine in the tight turn might favor the deprotonation step of the serine [36,37] needed in initiating the reaction cycle. A second observation concerns the specificity of the enzyme. The structures suggest that either methionine or serine in a distinct position prevents the binding of α -substituents such as (2S)-methylmalonyl-CoA [32].

2.2.2. The reaction mechanism of MCAT

The MCAT reaction cycle consists of two parts and follows the classical ping–pong bi–bi mechanism involving the His-Ser dyad and resembling the serine protease mechanism [1,25,32,38–40].

During the first half of the reaction cycle the thioester carbonyl of malonyl-CoA is located in the oxyanion hole. At the same time, the histidine abstracts a proton from the serine, turning it into an active nucleophile. The deprotonated serine then attacks the thioester carbonyl of malonyl-CoA, resulting in a tetrahedral intermediate, followed by protonation of the CoA leaving group by a histidine. The malonyl moiety remains covalently bound to the serine via an oxo-ester bond. The acyl-enzyme complex is stabilized by the oxyanion hole and NH1 and NH2 of an arginine that locates close to the active site serine. The side chain of the arginine forms a bidante salt bridge with the carboxylate of the malonyl moiety. The acyl-enzyme complex of MCAT is stable and deacylation occurs only in the presence of specific thiol acceptor. In the second halfreaction, holo-ACP forms a complex with MCAT and injects the 4'-phosphopantetheine group into the active site of MCAT. This time the histidine acts as an acid by accepting a proton from the terminal thiol group of 4'-phosphopantetheine, which becomes a nucleophile and attacks the carbonyl ester of the serine-O-malonyl intermediate forming a second tetrahedral intermediate. Finally, histidine reprotonates the active site serine and malonyl-ACP leaves the active site of MCAT.

Li and co-workers have proposed different mechanisms for the activation of the active site serine. The schemes involve an asparagine which polarizes the serine via a water molecule or a histidine residue [31]; this histidine is distinct from the above-mentioned residue. Both reaction models, however, result in the negatively charged serine acting as the nucleophile.

2.3. 3-Ketoacyl-ACP synthase/condensing enzyme (KAS/CEM1)

KAS catalyses the chain elongation step of the fatty acid synthesis cycle, by which acyl-ACP is extended by a two carbon acetylunit. The KAS enzymes belong to the thiolase superfamily, which include also the thiolases [41], the polyketide synthases (the PKS enzymes) [42,43] and the KS-domains of the FAS I megacomplexes [44]. These enzymes have approximately 420 residues per subunit constructed from two core domains which are related by a local two fold axis. The catalytic cysteine, which is a key feature among the members of this superfamily, is located at the N-terminus of a buried helix. This cysteine becomes acylated in the priming reaction of the catalytic cycle of these enzymes. Fig. 3 shows the three steps of this catalytic cycle, (i) the acylation of the catalytic cysteine, (ii) the activation of the substrate (acetyl-CoA in thiolases or malonyl-ACP in KAS-enzymes) and (iii) the Claisen condensation reaction, by which the activated substrate is extended by the acyl unit.



Fig. 3. Reactions catalysed by KAS enzymes and thiolases. The three subsequent reactions catalysed by the KAS enzymes and thiolases are the priming reaction, the activation step and the Claisen condensation reaction. In the priming reaction the catalytic cysteine is acylated. *The KAS initiation reaction*: In *E. coli* the initiation reaction is catalysed by FabH/KASIII. *E. coli* KAS III is primed by acetyl-CoA. The structure of KAS III shows that the *E. coli* KAS III fatty acid binding pocket can only accept short tails. In the acetylated form the enzyme binds malonyl-ACP which is decarboxylated to acetyl-ACP. Subsequently, the activated acetyl-ACP is extended by a Claisen condensation reaction is catalysed by tFabH/KASI II and FabF/KAS II enzymes. These enzymes are primed with much longer fatty acid tails delivered by acyl-ACP (C4–C14). In the acylated form the enzyme binds malonyl-ACP which is decarboxylated to acetyl-ACP is extended by a Claisen condensation reaction: in *E. coli* the enzyme binds malonyl-ACP which is decarboxylated to acetyl-ACP is extended by a Claisen condensation reaction is catalysed by the FabB/KAS I and FabF/KAS II enzymes. These enzymes are primed with much longer fatty acid tails delivered by acyl-ACP (C4–C14). In the acylated form the enzyme binds malonyl-ACP which is decarboxylated to acetyl-ACP. Subsequently, the activated acetyl-ACP is extended by a Claisen condensation reaction: In *thiolase reaction*: In thiolase the substrate for the priming reaction is acetyl-COA. In the second step a further acetyl-COA is activated by a deprotonation step for which the base is also a cysteine, Cys378. The acetyl group on the enzyme is subsequently transferred to the activated acetyl-COA in the third reaction, by which acetoacetyl-COA is formed. In mammals there are two biosynthetic thiolases, T2 in the mitochondria and CT in the cytosol.

In the FAS II pathway of E. coli, three different KAS enzymes are found: KAS I (E.C. 2.3.1.41), KAS II (E.C. 2.3.1.179) and KAS III (E.C. 2.3.1.180) which are very well characterized [1]. KAS I and KAS II are closely sequence- and structure related, but KAS III is more different in fold and function. KAS III is only involved in the first FAS cycle, where the substrates of KAS III are acetyl-CoA (for the priming reaction) and malonyl-ACP, whereas KAS I and KAS II are involved in the subsequent cycles (Fig. 3). The substrate specificities of KAS I and KAS II are overlapping, but KAS II is uniquely responsible for the last extension step of unsaturated C16-enoyl-ACP to 3-keto-C18-enoyl-ACP, whereas KAS I is uniquely required for the synthesis of unsaturated fatty acids [42,45]. Crystal structures are available for each of the three E. coli KAS enzymes. These crystal structures concern the unliganded enzymes [46] as well as complexes in which the active site is acylated. Structures are also available of complexes with specific inhibitors, like cerulenin and thiolactomycin. There are no structures of E. coli KAS I or KAS II showing the mode of binding of free or acylated ACP or CoA. Only for E. coli KAS III the mode of binding of the CoA moiety is known [47,48], but also for KAS III there are no structures known of the complexes with acetyl-ACP or acetyl-CoA.

2.3.1. Crystal structures, active site geometries and reaction mechanisms of KAS enzymes

KAS proteins share many structural features with thiolases, which are abundant enzymes that can participate in several different pathways, either degradative like in β-oxidation, or in biosynthetic pathways, like in the synthesis of cholesterol. The Claisen condensation reaction catalysed by thiolase in the synthetic direction is essentially identical to the reaction catalysed by the KAS enzymes (Fig. 3). The best studied biosynthetic thiolase is the bacterial thiolase of Zoogloea ramigera, which uses as a priming substrate acetyl-CoA, like E. coli KAS III. There are two important general differences between KAS enzymes and thiolases: (i) thiolases use as priming substrates acyl-CoA molecules (not acyl-ACP) and (ii) the substrate to be extended is acetyl-CoA (and not malonyl-ACP). The precise reaction mechanism of the bacterial thiolase is better understood because crystal structures capturing the various reaction intermediates are available [49]. Therefore, in this review, the active site geometry of the KAS enzymes will be compared with the active site of this thiolase. The key difference between the KAS enzymes and thiolase with respect to the condensation reaction mechanism concerns the activation of the

substrate: in the KAS enzymes the activation of the substrate (malonyl-ACP) is achieved by decarboxylation, whereas in thiolase the activation of the substrate (acetyl-CoA) is achieved by deprotonation. In both cases an enolate intermediate is formed. The deprotonation step requires a base, which in thiolase is a cysteine. The thiolase studies have shown that two oxyanion holes play a key role in the condensation reaction, referred to as oxyanion hole 1 and oxyanion hole 2, as described by [50]. Oxyanion hole 1 facilitates the deprotonation of acetyl-CoA, generating a nucleophilic carbon ion, which attacks the carbonyl carbon atom of the acylated cysteine. This results in a tetrahedral intermediate in which the negatively charged oxyanion is stabilized by oxyanion hole 2, formed by two main chain NH-groups, N(Gly380) and N(Cys89). Oxyanion hole 2 is therefore very similar to the classical oxyanion hole as originally observed in the serine proteases [51]. Oxyanion hole 1 has unique properties, as it is formed by a conserved water molecule as well as by the side chain NE2-atom of His348: such hydrogen bonding partners have not been observed in oxyanion holes stabilizing tetrahedral oxyanion intermediates, but is more common in oxyanion holes stabilizing enolate intermediates, like in this reaction mechanism. The conserved water molecule, Wat82 is hydrogen bonded to the side chain of Asn316, by which the conserved Wat82-Asn316 diad is defined.

Residues Cys89, Asn316, His348 are three important residues for catalysis in the thiolase family of enzymes. These residues are conserved in the superfamily, but it has been noted that the precise nature of the conservation of the corresponding residues is different in different subfamilies, thereby generating three families of enzymes: the CNH-family (the thiolases), the CHH-family (the KAS I/ KAS II enzymes), and the CHN-family (KAS III, and PKS III enzymes) [52,53]. Each of the above described structural features of the thiolase active site can be seen also in the active site of the KAS enzymes, except for the catalytic base. This is also visualized in Fig. 4. However, not in all cases the precise functionality of these structural features of the KAS enzymes has been probed by the available structures. With respect to thiolase it can be noted that oxvanion holes 1 and 2 could be identified because in one of the available structures the complex of acetyl-CoA bound to the acetylated enzyme was captured: in this intermediate the carbonyl oxygen of acetyl-CoA is bound in oxyanion hole 1, whereas the carbonyl oxygen of the acetylated enzyme is bound in oxyanion hole 2 [54].

As there are no structures of KAS enzymes complexed with acetyl-CoA/ACP or malonyl-CoA/ACP, the decarboxylation mechanism of the KAS enzymes remains speculative. It is possible that the proposed binding of the thioester oxygen atom in oxyanion hole 1 sufficiently destabilises the malonyl moiety, such that carbon dioxide becomes an easy leaving group. Alternatively, a nucleophilic water is involved, generating a carbonate ion; in this respect it has been suggested that His298 of KAS I is also important for activating this water [1,55]. In any case, mutagenesis studies of KAS I show that the residues corresponding to Asn316 and His348, respectively His298 and His333, are absolutely essential for the decarboxylation reaction [56], and Rock and coworkers [57] proposed that the His-His pair generates an oxyanion hole to facilitate the decarboxylation reaction, as suggested by binding studies of E. coli KAS I and KAS II with cerulenin. It should be noted that in the superposition study of the structure of the intermediate thiolase complex and the KAS-active sites the carbonyl oxygen atom of the thiolase acetyl-CoA is precisely placed at the predicted oxyanion hole (Fig. 4). In the unliganded KAS enzymes a water is seen to be bound at this site. Further experimental binding studies are required to prove that this site corresponds to an oxyanion binding site. Structural studies and mutagenesis studies with KAS III of E. coli [47] and Mycobacterium [58] also have been interpreted such that the residues His244 and Asn274 shape an oxyanion hole.

A unique conserved feature in the active site of the KAS I and KAS II enzymes are Lys328 or Lys335, respectively (Fig. 4). Mutagenesis studies with KAS I show that the K328A variant is unable to catalyse the decarboxylation reaction [55,56]. Structural studies show that only small structural changes are introduced by this mutation. The disabling of the decarboxylase activity could be related to these structural changes, and/or due to the change of the electrostatic properties of the active site, or both. Another highly conserved residue is Phe392, Phe400, also shown in Fig. 4. This side chain rotates on acylation of the catalytic cysteine, and it has been suggested that the rotation of this side chain is essential for competent binding of the malonyl-moiety of malonyl-ACP/CoA [59,60]. In the KAS III enzymes the residues corresponding to Lys328 and Phe 392 are not conserved, implying that the details of the reaction mechanism of the KAS III enzymes are different. As shown in Fig. 4, Lys328 superimposes with Asn316 of thiolase (pointing with its NH group to the active site), whereas in the KAS III subfamily this corresponds to a peptide moiety, pointing with its NH-group to the active site (Fig. 4). Phe392/Phe400 is only conserved in the KAS I/KAS II sequences, but not in KAS III, and its side chain is placed near the entrance of the fatty acid binding pocket. On fatty acid binding, this residue changes conformation. The KAS I/KAS II enzymes have an extended fatty acid binding pocket, whereas the synthetic thiolase and the KAS III enzyme only have a small binding pocket, consistent with their substrate specificity.

The KAS I, KAS II and KAS III enzymes of plant plastids have been characterized [61]. More recently, since the discovery of the mitochondrial FAS II, the structural properties of two mitochondrial KAS enzymes have also been reported [60,62] (Fig. 4). A single mitochondrial KAS enzyme catalyses the elongation step for all FAS cycles. This KAS is most closely related to the KAS I/KAS II family, having the CHH-motif of catalytic residues (Fig. 4). The closest homologue is the E. coli KAS II. Interestingly, the substrate specificity for the initiation reaction of the human mitochondrial and the plant mitochondrial enzyme is different. The human enzyme requires acetyl-ACP for this reaction [7], whereas the plant enzyme requires malonyl-ACP [45]. It has been found that the catalytic efficiency of the mitochondrial enzyme is optimal for the C6-acyl-ACP and the C12-acyl-ACP [7,45]. In conjunction with the available data on other mitochondrial FAS II enzymes, this highlights two important aspects related to the possible function of mitochondrial FAS II. (i) It agrees with the notion that C8-fatty acids are an important product of mitochondrial FAS II and (ii) mitochondrial FAS II is also capable of synthesis of longer fatty acids up to C14. Protein crystallographic binding studies with the mitochondrial KAS enzymes have shown that a hydrophobic pocket exists for binding these tails. This hydrophobic pocket, which extends towards the dimer interface, is divided into two compartments by Met154, Ile154 in respectively the human, plant mitochondrial KAS enzyme [60]. This residue is proposed to be able to adopt two different conformations, thereby extending the pocket in the case of binding a fatty acid with a longer tail. In the known structures (of the C6-acylated complexes) the pocket is large enough for binding a C6 tail, but a C8 tail cannot be accommodated. A conformational switch of this residue is predicted to extend the pocket and allow for binding of a C12 tail.

2.4. 3-Ketoacyl reductase (KAR)

3-Ketoacyl reductase (KAR) is responsible for the second step of FAS (Fig. 1) in which the C3–O3 carbonyl–oxygen double bond is reduced. The bacterial enzymes utilize NADPH as the cofactor. The best characterized free standing KAR is the *E. coli* KAR, also referred to as FabG [1]. *S. cerevisiae* Oar1 (*Sc*Oar1p) is the yeast mitochondrial homologue of FabG. A yeast *oar*1 Δ strain showed a



Fig. 4. The catalytic site of the KAS enzymes and comparison with the active site of the bacterial thiolase complexed with acetyl-CoA. The thiolase structure (pdb entry 1dm3) is highlighted in green in A–D. Dotted lines indicate the hydrogen bonding interactions in oxyanion hole 1 and oxyanion hole 2. Active site waters are colored as the corresponding enzyme. (A) Liganded (C6 acylated cysteine, 2iwz, magenta) and unliganded (2iwy, cyan) human mitochondrial KAS. The position of the active site water (cyan) of the unliganded human mitochondrial KAS structure coincides with the oxyanion hole of the thiolase structure. The catalytic residues of the bacterial thiolase are labeled, Cys378 is the catalytic base. (B) Liganded (1b3n, pink) and unliganded (1kas, grey) *E. coli* KAS II. The ligand is cerulenin, the covalent structure of which is also shown in Figure 4E. Note that oxygen atoms of cerulenin bind in oxyanion hole 1 and oxyanion hole 2. The catalytic residues of KAS II are labeled. (C) Unliganded KAS II (1kas, grey), and KAS III (1ebl, orange; this KAS III structure is of the complex with CoA, but CoA is not shown). Note that in this comparison each of the three motifs CHH (KAS II, grey), CHN (KAS III, orange) and CNH (thiolase, green) is included. The catalytic residues of KAS III are labeled. (D) Liganded (2iw, cyan) and unliganded (2buh, yellow) *E. coli* KAS I. Note the characteristic rotation of the active site phenylalanine and cysteine when comparing the liganded and unliganded structures. The catalytic residues of KAS II are labeled. (E) The covalent structure of cerulenin is a potent inhibitor of KAS enzymes. It covalent structure of cerulenin as modified by the reaction with this cysteine.

respiratory deficient phenotype and the cytochrome loss phenotype characteristic for mitochondrial FAS II mutants [28]. However, the biochemical properties of *Sc*Oar1p have not yet been determined. A human mitochondrial KAR (*Hs*KAR) was described very recently. Unexpectedly, *Hs*KAR was shown to be heterotetramer consisting of 17β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 8 and

carbonyl reductase type 4. The NADH-dependent *Hs*KAR share sequence similarity with Oar1p and FabG [10].

Studies of the crystal structures of the apo enzyme and liganded FabG revealed a conformational change of the active site induced upon NADPH binding to the enzyme prior to substrate recognition [63,64]. This suggests an ordered reaction mechanism in which NADPH must bind first to prime the enzyme for acceptance and processing of the substrate. FabG contains a conserved triad of catalytic residues Ser138-Tyr151-Lys155. Although the structure of a ternary complex is missing, the available data suggest that during the catalytic cycle, Tyr151 donates a proton to the substrate O3 atom, whereas NADPH provides a hydride to the C3 carbon of the substrate. The crystal structures of this reductase from Mycobacterium tuberculosis and from chloroplasts of Brasscia napus, the rape seed plant, have been solved [65]. Each of these reductases belongs to the SDR superfamily and display a tetrameric architecture. In the SDR superfamily each subunit is compactly folded into one domain of about 250 residues. Each domain has a central, parallel β sheet consisting of 7 β -strands covered by α helices, comprising a classical Rossmann dinucleotide binding fold. The Ser-Tyr-Lys triad is conserved in all the above-mentioned enzymes. Detailed structural studies of E. coli FabG suggest that a chain of several water molecules acts as a proton wire to regenerate the tyrosine side chain once it has donated its proton to the substrate during the catalytic cycle [63].

2.5. 3-Hydroxyacyl thioester dehydratase (HTD)

The characterized dehydratases of mitochondrial FAS belong to the MaoC dehydratase-like subfamily of thioesterase/thiol ester dehydratase/isomerase (TED1) superfamily. The latter is comprised of bacterial, archeal and eukaryotic proteins with diverse functions from thioester hydrolysis to phenylacetic acid breakdown and transcriptional regulation of fatty acid biosynthesis. The TED1 superfamily consists of 17 subfamilies, two of which are presented by the E. coli FabA and FabZ dehydratases. Park and co-authors have shown that the MaoC gene encodes an enovl-CoA dehvdratase involved in polyhydroxyalkanoate synthesis in E. coli [66]. The eukaryotic mitochondrial HTD was resistant to computational and biochemical identification approaches. However, in a cloning by function approach, yeast mutants defective in mitochondrial HTD were identified by screening for mutants required to maintain a mitochondrially targeted form of E. coli FabA to survive on media containing only a non-fermentable carbon source [67]. The mutations underlying this phenotype were all found to be in the yeast YHR067w/HTD2gene, encoding a protein which was targeted to mitochondria, as shown by immunofluorescence microscopy studies with an Htd2-protein A fusion chimera. Protein sequence analysis revealed the presence of a MaoC-type amino acid motif, and over-expression of Htd2p resulted in increased hydratase-2 activity in yeast mitochondrial extracts. The htd2 null mutant yeast was respiratory deficient, unable to maintain mitochondrially encoded cytochromes and experienced mitochondrial morphological alterations similar to other yeast mutants deficient in the mitochondrial FAS pathway, leading to the conclusion that this protein was indeed the yeast HTD.

The identification of human HTD2 did not proceed in the expected fashion, as no apparent homolog to yeast Htd2p or fabA/ fabZ could be found by computational means. Instead, cDNAs encoding the human dehydratase were identified yet again by a functional cloning approach, in which the respiratory deficient *htd2*-1 yeast mutant strain was transformed with human cerebellum and kidney cDNA libraries, and transformants were selected for their ability to grow on medium containing a non-fermentable carbon source [3,8]. Surprising, however, was the finding that the plasmids rescuing the *htd2*-1 yeast mutation contained human

RPP14 cDNAs, which encode one subunit of the mammalian RNase P complex. Closer analysis of the cDNAs revealed an additional 3'ORF encoding a human mitochondrial HTD2 (HsHTD2). The HsHTD2 ORF was shown to be responsible for rescuing the yeast mutation. The encoded protein was overexpressed as a fusion to maltose binding protein, and the recombinant protein exhibited hydratase-2 activity. In addition, a GFP-tagged variant of the protein was shown to localize to mitochondria in HeLa cells. The RPP14-HTD2 bicistronic mRNA encodes two proteins with seemingly widely disparate roles and is expressed most abundantly in heart and liver, human tissues with robust mitochondrial function. The isolation of the human HTD2 allowed the identification of a highly similar mitochondrial homolog in T. brucei, which had evaded characterization before the identity of the human enzyme was established [68]. In addition, the recently characterized Mycobacterium tuberculosis 3-hydroxyacyl-ACP dehydratase is also homologous to HsHTD2 [69]. Interestingly, all three proteins resemble the PhaJ type dehydratases involved in polyhydroxyalkanoate synthesis, rather than the E. coli FabA or FabZ dehydratases.

The emergence of this unusual bicistronic arrangement in bony fish implies that the mRNA structure has been preserved for 400 million years. Almost all eukaryotic mRNAs are monocistronic, because translation is initiated by the small ribosomal subunit, which scans from the cap along the 5' UTR in search of the first AUG start codon [70]. How the translation of the *HsHTD2* dehydratase coding sequence is initiated 121 nucleotides 3' of the RPP14 stop codon is a topic for future investigation. A stunning discovery that may have some bearing on the meaning of the vertebrate arrangement of an RNAse P component linked to a mitochondrial FAS II gene was revealed recently in a publication that describes the necessity of an intact mitochondrial FAS II in yeast for the function of yeast mitochondrial RNAse P [3](see below).

2.5.1. Structures of HTDs

The common feature in all family members is so-called hot dog fold structure [71,72]. The hot dog fold consists of a long and hydrophobic α -helix ("sausage") wrapped in an anti-parallel β sheet ("bun"). The molecular masses of the human and the recently identified *T. brucei* mitochondrial dehydratases correspond to the mass of the FabA and FabZ proteins (18.8 kDa and 17.0 kDa, respectively). However, the predicted molecular mass of the yeast mitochondrial dehydratase is 33.1 kDa [67] which is close to the mass of the hydratase-2 part (31.0 kDa) of the peroxisomal multifunctional enzyme type 2 [73]. Yeast Htd2p is therefore predicted to form a "double hotdog fold" similar to the structure observed in the hydratase-2 part of the yeast Mfe2p [74].

2.6. Enoyl thioester reductase (ETR)

The last step of the FAS cycle is catalysed by enoyl thioester reductases. Enzymes originating from three protein families are found to catalyse this reaction in fatty acid synthesis of various organisms and cellular compartments. Thus ETR1s are an example of functional convergence during the evolution. Each of the ETRs, short chain dehydrogenase/reductase (SDR), medium-chain dehydrogenases/reductases (MDR) and TIM barrel families will be discussed shortly below.

SDRs and MDRs are very large protein families. Members of both SDR and MDR catalyse NAD(P)(H)-dependent oxidation/ reductions. Around 3000 members of the SDR superfamily, including 63 human proteins, have been defined to date [75]. The "short" refers to the shorter length of the polypeptide chain of SDRs compared to members of the MDR superfamily. SDRs can be further divided into two families, "classical" (~250 residues) and "extended" (~350 residues) [76]. Most SDRs are homodimeric and homotetrameric by quaternary structure but there exist some monomeric members. SDRs as well as MDRs possess a conserved Rossmann fold that is formed by α/β folding with a central parallel β -sheet sandwiched between two arrays of parallel α -helices, albeit they are divergent in terms of substrate specificities and sequence identities [77,78]. In SDRs, a proton relay system is formed by Asn, Ser, Tyr and Lys, the catalytic tetrad [78]. The tyrosine and lysine residues of the catalytic tetrad are strictly conserved and they are usually arranged as the Tyr–X–X–Lys consensus sequence. The separation between the tyrosine and lysine varies from three to seven residues [79]. In the crystal structures of SDR family members, it has been noticed that the location of the lysine residue is almost identical, but the position of the tyrosine residue in the polypeptide sequence is more flexible [80].

Compared to SDRs, the physiological roles of the MDRs are more versatile including metabolic enzymes, detoxification, and regulation [75]. Thus far, approximately 1000 members of the MDR superfamily, among them 23 human proteins have been found [75]. Some MDRs contain one or two zinc ions required either for the catalytic activity or the stabilization of parts of the tertiary structure [81]. MDRs can be divided into eight subfamilies. The eukaryotic mitochondrial ETR belongs to the mitochondrial respiratory function (MRF) subfamily of MDR superfamily. For most of the subfamilies a conserved sequence pattern has been detected. The MRF sequence pattern has a highly conserved Thr–Tyr–Gly– Gly–Met motif [81] involved in cofactor binding [34].

The triose phosphate isomerase (TIM) barrel fold was first discovered in triosephosphate isomerase [82]. The core of the fold resembles a barrel and it consists of eight parallel β -strands; the barrel structure is surrounded by eight helices. The TIM β/α barrel is the second widely shared fold [83].

2.6.1. Prokaryotic ETRs

At least four different ETRs exist in bacteria: Fabl. FabK. FabL and the very recently characterized FabV (Table 2). E. coli and B. subtilis contain FabI an NADH-dependent homotetrameric ETR of SDR superfamily [84,85], whereas Streptococcus pneumoniae does not have a homolog of FabI but instead contains a FabK. FabK and FabI do not share any sequence similarities and they belong to different protein families. Moreover, FabK, which is active as a homodimer, requires flavin mononucleotide (FMN) as a second cofactor in addition to NADH [86]. Interestingly, B. subtilis was found to have a second form of ETR in addition to FabI, called FabL [85]. FabL is an SDR superfamily enzyme with low similarity to FabI and contains the key catalytic residues arranged in Tyr-X₆-Lys dyad. In contrast to FabI which is NADH-dependent, FabL reduced the double bond only in the presence of NADPH. The nature of quaternary structure of FabL has not been reported yet. The enoyl reductase FabV was characterized from Vibrio cholerae. V. cholerae does not have homologs of previously identified ETRs. FabV, like FabI and FabL, is a member of SDR superfamily, but about 60% larger than a typical SDR protein, shows a strong cofactor preference for NADH over NADPH [87] and is active as a monomer. Additionally, *M. tuberculosis*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Enterococcus faecalis* have been reported to have another set of two ETRs, Fabl (InhA) and FabK [88].

Interestingly, triclosan, a chlorinated bisphenol, inhibits Fabltype enzymes by forming a Fabl–NAD⁺–triclosan ternary complex [89], whereas FabK, FabL and FabV are triclosan-resistant [87]. Moreover, the InhA homologue of FabI in *M. tuberculosis* is inhibited by isoniazid [90]. A phenylimidazole derivative inhibitor (AG205) binds to the catalytic site of FabK and probably competes with NADH [91].

The crystal structures of FabI and FabK have been determined. FabI is a homotetramer with single subunit monomers. The subunit topology shows striking similarity to other enzymes of the SDR superfamily [92]. The structure of FabK is, however, similar to its functional counterpart of the FAS I pathway in fungi [91]. Both monomers of dimeric FabK have a TIM-barrel fold. FabL has been crystallized and a dataset to 2.5 Å resolution has been collected but the crystal structure of FabL has not been published yet [93].

2.6.2. Eukaryotic ETRs

In the yeast mitochondrial FAS system, the reduction of the double bond is catalysed by an MDR enzyme, Etr1p [94], for which the crystals structures of the apo and holo enzymes have been determined [34]. The monomer of homodimeric Etr1p of Candida tropicalis consists of two domains, the N-terminal catalytic and C-terminal NADPH cofactor binding domains. The helices and sheets of the cofactor binding domain are assembled into the classical Rossmann fold. C. tropicalis contains two isoforms of Etr1p encoded by different genes that differ by only three amino acids [95]. These two isoforms of CtEtr1p form both homodimers and heterodimers. Interestingly, the respiratory deficient phenotype of S. cerevisiae strains lacking the Etr1p homolog can be rescued by mitochondrially targeted FabI, a tetrameric SDR, but in contrast to the wild type, these cells become triclosan sensitive when grown on a non-fermentable carbon source [94]. This observation indicated that the enzyme activity per se is more important than the structural properties of the protein complexes in vivo. The mammalian ortholog of Etr1p, MECR/ETR1 (also known as nuclear receptor binding factor 1, Nrbf-1) was identified on the basis of similarities to the fungal protein. MECR/ETR1 (also an MDR enzyme) forms a dimer with a molecular mass of 37 kDa for each monomer [9]. The overall structure of MECR/ETR1 is very similar to its yeast functional counterpart, Etr1p. MECR/ETR1 shows a bimodal distribution of catalytic specificity with maxima at C8 and C12 [96]. In the crystal structure of human MECR/ETR1 a deep curved pocket was identified extending from the catalytic site to the interior of the catalytic domain [96]. The pocket is long enough to accommodate fatty acyl moieties of up to 16 carbons chain length. C. tropicalis Etr1p also has such a pocket but the shape of

Table 2

ETRs from various FAS systems. Each protein family has different color. FabV shows preference for NADH over NADPH.

Protein	Origin	Protein family	Cofactor(s)	Subcellular location			
Fabl	Bacteria	SDR	NADH				
FabL	Bacteria	SDR	NADPH				
FabV	Bacteria	SDR	NADH/NADPH				
FabK	Bacteria	TIM	NADH + <u>FMN</u>				
ER of FAS I	Yeast	TIM	NADPH + FMN	Cytosol			
Etr1p	Yeast	MDR	NADPH	Mitochondrion			
ER of FAS I	Mammalian	MDR	NADPH	Cytosol			
MECR/ETR1	Mammalian	MDR	NADPH	Mitochondrion			
2E-enoyl-CoA reductase	Mammalian	SDR	NADPH	Peroxisome			



Fig. 5. The catalytic pocket in ETR1. Molecular surface presentations of the active sites of human MECR/ETR1 (A) and C. *tropicalis* Etr1p (B) are presented. The structure of Etr1p was solved in the presence of NADPH. The position of NADPH in the active site of MECR/ETR1 was obtained by superpositioning holo Etr1p on apo MECR/ETR1. The C4 of the nicotinamide group of NADPH is the site of hydride transfer. During the reaction cycle the hydride ion of C4 is transferred to the β -carbon of the substrate. A deep pocket extends from the active site of MECR/ETR1 and Etr1p. The pocket of MECR/ETR1 is approximately 18 Å deep and therefore can accommodate fatty acyl groups of up to 16 carbons.

the pocket differs from the human counterpart in some details (Fig. 5).

Fungal cytosolic FAS I is organized in a way more suitable for the coordinated biosynthesis of fatty acids. Fungal FAS I is a barrel-shaped α 6 β 6 multifunctional complex with a molecular mass of 2.6-megadalton, contains two separated reaction chambers (three active sites per chamber) [97]. The ETR domain of fungal FAS I contains cofactor binding sites for FMN and NADPH [98]. Interestingly, the FMN-binding site of the fungal FAS I consists of a TIM-barrel fold, whereas the NADPH-binding site is formed predominantly by an α -helical domain that is different from a Rossmann fold [97]. Apparently, the TIM-barrel fold is related to FMN binding as exemplified by the prokaryotic FabK ETR. The mammalian cytosolic FAS I is formed by X-shaped intertwined multifunctional $\alpha 2$ homodimer with a molecular mass of 0.54 MDa. Unlike the ETR of yeast FAS I, the ETR domain of the mammalian FAS I resembles MDR enzymes and contains a NADPH-binding Rossmann fold as well as a substrate binding domain. [99].

The peroxisomal ETR in mammals, a monomeric NADPH specific SDR enzyme with a molecular mass of 32.5 kDa, displays a maximum activity with the medium chain length substrate (C10) [100].

3. Acyl carrier protein (ACP) as protein and interaction with FAS enzymes

ACP is one of the abundant small proteins present inside the cell. The protein was first discovered in *E. coli* in the early sixties and



Fig. 6. Crystal structure of ACP. The crystal structure of E. coli acyl-ACP (PDB entry code 2fae). The *E. coli* ACP has four helices (α 1- α 4) arranged in a bundle; the interior of the bundle is hydrophobic. Upon transforming apo-ACP into acyl-ACP, 4'-phosphopantetheine is first transferred to a conserved serine (Ser36) of the amino acid backbone and then the acyl group is attached to terminal SH-group of phosphopantetheine. In this structure, the hydrophobic core of the protein is occupied by the fatty acyl group of ten carbon atoms and the ω -end of the decanoyl group is pointing toward the loop-2 that is between α 2 and α 3.

soon after was named ACP [101]. ACP is synthesized as an inactive apo protein and subsequently activate by the transfer of 4'-phosphopantetheine from CoA to a specific and conserved serine of the amino acid backbone (Fig. 6) by PPTase (holo-ACP synthase) [17,102]. The size of the *E. coli* ACP is approximately 9 kDa and the size varies between the species. The ACP of bacteria and plants are very similar both in their primary and tertiary structures [103]. Much less sequence identity is detected between the bacterial and mammalian ACPs [103]. The highest conservation between species on the amino acid sequence level can be observed in vicinity of the serine residue to which 4'-phosphopantetheine is attached.

The first mitochondrial ACP was discovered in *N. crassa* [104]. The 9.6-kDa protein was found to be localized in the peripheral arm of NADH:ubiquinone reductase (complex I) [105,106] of the respiratory chain. Studies with bovine heart mitochondria showed that two forms of mitochondrial ACP, one associated with respiratory complex I and the other as a soluble matrix protein, coexist in mammalian mitochondria [107–109]. The human ACP was also shown to be localized to mitochondria by immunofluorescence detection [6].

ACPs have versatile roles in different organisms. Most of all, ACP acts as a central carrier of fatty acids during their synthesis and utilization; it shuttles the intermediates of the FAS II pathway between the active sites of the other FAS II components. The growing fatty acid chain is attached to the terminal sulfhydryl group of phosphopantetheine, and during the entire reaction cycle the substrate stays attached in ACP. The over-expression of ACP in E. coli inhibited the cell growth [110] due to the insufficient attachment of 4'-phosphopantetheine to ACP, resulting in the inhibition of lipid metabolism by excess amounts of apo ACP. In eukaryotes, deletion of the S. cerevisiae gene (ACP1) coding for mitochondrial ACP led to a 10-20-fold decrease of lipoic acid content compared to the wild-type and concomitant loss of all mitochondrially encoded cytochromes [111] while the general cellular fatty acid composition was unaffected. In N. crassa, the loss of ACP caused several defects: complex I was not properly assembled and the lysophospholipid content of the membrane was increased fourfold [105].

The effects of knockdown of ACP expression in human cells are discussed further below.

3.1. The structures of apo-ACP, holo-ACP and acyl-ACP

Tens of NMR and crystal structures of ACP from different species and with different ligands are available at the PDB. Typically, ACPs exhibit a conserved fold with four alpha helices arranged in a roughly 4-fold symmetrical bundle, as exemplified by the *E. coli* protein (Fig. 6). The four-helix bundle consists of three major helices and one shorter helix, helix-3. The helix-2 is termed as a recognition helix [112] because of its important role in contacting the partner enzyme of a complex. The helices enclose a hydrophobic core forming a tunnel that provides a sheath for fatty acid binding. This cavity runs almost parallel to helix-2 and tapers down towards the exit of the tunnel.

The high-resolution crystal structures of butyryl(C4)-ACP, hexanoyl(C6)-ACP, heptanoyl(C7)-ACP and decanoyl(C10)-ACP shows the mode of binding of the fatty acyl tail as they occupy the hydrophobic core of the four-helix bundle [113,114]. In all cases the acyl chain adopts an extended conformation and the omega end of the fatty acyl tail points toward the loop-2 after helix-2 (Fig. 6). A slightly different binding mode of the acylated 4'-phosphopantetheine group was found in hexanoyl-ACP and heptanoyl-ACP crystals compared to butyryl-ACP and decanoyl-ACP structures. In these cases the thioester-linked acyl chain located approximately 5 Å deeper in the tunnel. When the sizes of the hydrophobic tunnel-like cavities were compared between the unliganded and liganded ACPs, the volume increased from close to zero to $164\,\text{\AA}^3$ and largest expansion was observed with decanoyl-ACP [113]. This volume change was referred to as a hydrophobic cavity expansion and gradual swelling of the global protein fold. The swelling did not affect changes in the secondary structures or the overall protein fold.

3.2. Interaction of ACP with FAS enzymes

The docking studies with the NMR structure of *E. coli* ACP with the crystal structure of *E. coli* FabH (KAS III) [115] indicated that ionic interactions are important in the recognition procedure upon complex formation. To identify the residues of ACP that undergo conformational changes upon formation of the complex with FabG (KAR), a chemical shift perturbation method was employed [112]. The largest changes were observed for the residues of the recognition helix, including serine that locates at the N-terminus of this helix and is the attachment point for the covalent 4'phosphopant-etheine modification of holo-ACP. The changes extended also to loop-2 next to helix-2. Especially the position of isoleucine of loop-2 was significantly perturbed.

The structure of the *E. coli* ACP bound to FabI (ETR) was the first crystal structure of a FAS II complex [116]. In this complex, however, the density for most of the side-chains in ACP were missing and therefore the authors used computational method to fill-in the missing details. The results showed that the binding of ACP did not alter the structure of the partner enzyme and also that the complex structure was predominantly stabilized through hydrogen bonding interactions between the acidic residues of the recognition helix of ACP and the basic ones on the partner.

There exists, however, a crystal structure of a FAS II complex in which ACP is involved and completely visible; it is a structure of *B. subtilis* holo-ACP bound to the AcpS holo-ACP synthase/PPTase [13]. The nature of the contacts between holo-ACP and AcpS are very similar to the interactions of complexes of ACP with FAS II components. Specifically, almost all of the residues of ACP involved in the hydrophilic contacts are located within the recognition helix.

There are, however, few additional significant hydrophobic contacts.

The structures of the complexes show that the protein–protein interactions are not very extensive. The weak affinity is expected because ACP has to reversibly interact with various kinds of enzymes [103]. Most likely, the interactions will become more specific when the substrate molecule starts to contribute to interactions [113]. Moreover, ACPs have been found to be functionally interchangeable in the reactions of fatty acid metabolism between different species [117].

In the FAS I system, ACP is an integral part of long polypeptide chain. Very recently, the crystal structures of FAS enzymes have been determined from pig and S. cerevisiae, but only in the structure of the S. cerevisiae FAS I complex the ACP domain was visible [44,118]. This domain is located close to catalytic cleft of the KAS domain, with its phosphopantetheine part injected into the catalytic cleft of KAS. Therefore, this liganded structure of ACP differs from the *E. coli* acyl-ACP structures where the fatty acyl moiety is localized inside the ACP. The E. coli acyl-ACP structures may represent the delivery form of acyl-ACP during the transport of fatty acyl intermediates between the active sites of FAS II components. The structure of S. cerevisiae holo-ACP may then be the conformation in the "active" complex. The ACP of FAS I is surrounded by the long flexible linkers which allow the domain to shuttle a substrate molecule between active sites. Because of the high mobility of the linkers, they are not seen in the electron density maps [118].

4. The source of mitochondrial malonyl-CoA

The generation of malonyl-CoA is the first committed step of fatty acid synthesis, and the issue of the source of this compound used in yeast and higher eukaryote mitochondrial FAS is still surrounded by a number of intriguing questions and observations. The canonical mode of synthesizing malonyl CoA proceeds via the ATP-dependent condensation of acetyl-CoA and bicarbonate and is performed as a two-half step reaction by acetyl-CoA carboxvlase (ACC). This enzyme is composed of two catalytic domains, the biotin carboxylase (BC) and carboxytransferase (CT), and one structural domain, the biotin-carboxy carrier protein (bcc). In the first, ATP requiring halfstep of the reaction, biotin is carboxylated by BC. Biotin, covalently attached to bcc, acts as a "swinging arm" cofactor to deliver the carboxy group to the CT domain, where the CO₂ – is transferred to acetyl-CoA. In bacteria, the three domains are formed by individual polypeptides. E. coli ACC is a heteroheptamer composed of one BC polypeptide, a dimeric BC and a heterotetrameric ($\alpha 2\beta 2$) CT [119]. The higher plant plastid FAS system appears to rely on an enzyme of similar structure. Plastid ACC however, has been reported to be membrane associated, and gel filtration studies indicate that these plant enzyme complexes may form higher order structures than the corresponding E. coli enzyme [120,121]. Overproduction of the ACC in E. coli results in a sixfold increase of FAS activity, indicating the potential for an important role of this metabolic step in the regulation of FAS.

The first mitochondrial ACC was identified in grasses as a protein similar to eukaryotic cytosolic ACCs [122], which are large enzymes carrying all ACC functions on a single polypeptide. Only one year later, yeast mitochondrial ACC was found to be encoded by the *HFA*1 gene [123]. Like the plant enzyme, Hfa1p resembles eukaryotic cytosolic ACCs (Acc1p in yeast). Deletion of *HFA*1 results in growth deficiency on lactate and ethanol, but not on glycerol. A remarkable feature of *HFA*1 is that the ORF encoding the ACC apparently starts far 5' to the first ATG of the sequence. Translation of this sequence in frame with this codon reveals that homology of Hfa1p to Acc1p extends for at least 153 base pairs in the 5' direction. Furthermore, the DNA sequence preceding the ACC-homology region encodes a polypeptide predicted to form a mitochondrial import signal. It was shown that an *HFA*1 construct missing the sequence encoding the putative mitochondrial localization signal but including the sequence homologous to *ACC*1 was capable of rescuing the *acc*1 Δ strain growth defect, indicating that *HFA*1 indeed encodes a functional ACC, but was not sufficient to complement the *pet* phenotype of the *hfa*1 Δ strain on lactate. Conversely, a construct containing the predicted mitochondrial import sequence complemented the *hfa*1 Δ phenotype but could not rescue the lethal phenotype of the *ACC*1 deletion. Therefore, it is clear that translation of *HFA*1 in yeast must be initiated more than 60 codons upstream of the annotated initiation ATG. Hoja and coworkers proposed that *HFA*1 was derived from an ancestral ACC, one copy of which diverged after the genome duplication in the *S. cerevisiae* ancestor, obtaining a mitochondrial import sequence [123].

A second mystery is the only partial respiratory deficiency of the $hfa1\Delta$ veast strain. Deletion mutations in any one of the other mitochondrial FAS II genes leads to complete respiratory deficiency. The ability of the $hfa1\Delta$ strain to grow on glycerol indicates that there is still some residual function of the Krebs cycle and the respiratory chain, suggesting a secondary source of malonyl-CoA in yeast mitochondria. How this metabolite is generated is not known. The Schweizer group in Erlangen reported about a decade ago that a loss-of-function mutation in the ACC1 gene rendered yeast cells respiratory deficient [124]. Although the data is difficult to interpret, as the mutation has not been thoroughly characterized and confers a general fatty acid deficiency to the mutant, it is tempting to speculate that Acc1p can contribute some malonyl-CoA to the mitochondrial FAS II pathway. The route by which this substrate would the mitochondria, however, is not clear. Alternative sources of malonyl-CoA are discussed below.

A mammalian mitochondrial matrix ACC has not been characterized to date. The human genome harbors two genes encoding two distinct forms of ACC (ACC1, encoded by the ACACA gene, and ACC2, encoded by the ACACB gene). The N-terminus of ACC2 contains a mitochondrial targeting sequence that is immediately followed by a 100-aa hydrophilic stretch. ACC2 has been proposing to be anchored to the mitochondria outer membrane or the contact sites of the outer and inner mitochondrial membranes, with the bulk of the polypeptide facing the cytosol [125]. It is enriched in heart, skeletal muscle and brown adipose tissue [126]. This association with the mitochondrial membrane can be readily reversed, so any isolation procedure for ACC2 should not include a harsh treatment. In previous studies, ACC2 was purified using avidin-Sepharose chromatography from a heart non-mitochondria-homogenate after mitochondria are removed from the homogenate [127]. ACC2 resides primarily in the in cytosol rather than in the mitochondrial matrix or membrane. This cytosol - facing localization of the catalytic site of ACC2 argues against its role as a generator of intramitochondrial malonyl-CoA. The malonyl-CoA produced by ACC2 has been shown to be important as a negative regulator of carnitine/palmitoyl-transferase I and, by extension, mitochondrial fatty acid β -oxidation. In line with this notion, ACACB knockout mice exhibited a high fatty acid oxidation rate and a reduced fat content [128]. It was also recently reported that a cytosolically localized shorter isoform of ACC2 lacking the mitochondrial import sequence and the transmembrane domain is expressed in several tissues in mouse, and it was suggested that this form of ACC2 may play a role in lipogenesis [129]. Unless there is a malonyl-CoA import pathway, however, ACC2 cannot be responsible for the synthesis of this metabolite required in the matrix (see below). A recently published compendium of genes with a high likelihood of mitochondrial function, however, lists ACC1 as a candidate [130]. The human ACACA gene, encoding the soluble cytosolic ACC, is transcribed from three different promoters, and transcript heterogeneity is additionally enhanced by alternatively spliced variants, yielding in a plethora of different transcript isoforms in humans and mouse [131,132]. The physiological significance of the individual transcript forms is not clear, but it has been shown that mammalian ACC isoforms are regulated by diet and hormones (reviewed in [133]), and it is tempting to speculate about the existence of a mitochondrially targeted isoform. A model case of production two proteins of the same function for localization in different cellular compartments in mammals has been reported already more than 15 years ago for human uracil-DNA glycosylase [134,135].

In organello assays carried out with *T. brucei* showed that extramitochondrial malonyl-CoA can serve as a source for intramitochondrial malonyl-CoA [136]. Although no transporter for malonyl-CoA has been reported to date, it is possible that this type carrier exists, for instance, among the members of solute carrier family 25 (SLC25). Leu5p from yeast serves as a coenzyme A transporter across inner mitochondrial membrane [137], and it was recently shown that SLC25A42 from human mitochondria is a transporter of CoA and ADP [138]. As far we know, it has not been published whether malonyl-CoA is accepted as substrate for these or related carriers residing in inner mitochondrial membrane.

4.1. Alternative modes of malonyl-CoA generation

Before the discovery of a mitochondrial acetyl-CoA carboxylase in grasses, it had been suggested that plant mitochondria may not contain an ACC [139,140], which may still be true for dicotyledonous plants, as the protein has not been detected in Arabidopsis thaliana [122]. It was therefore proposed that malonyl-CoA may be made available to the plant organelles by synthesis of malonyl-CoA in the cytosol, conversion to malonate by transfer of the CoA to succinate or acetoacetate, import into mitochondria via a dicarboxylic acid transporter [141] and re-activation to malonyl-CoA in the organelles. A malonyl-CoA synthetase activity responsible for this latter reaction has been found in plant mitochondria [142]. In principle, this mode of malonyl-CoA production may also be possible in mammals. The human genome harbors a homologue of the Rhizobium leguminosarum malonyl-CoA synthetase, with a high probability of mitochondrial localization. As these enzymes all belong to the acyl-CoA synthetase family of proteins, malonyl-CoA synthetase activity for the human enzyme needs to be established if this pathway should be considered as the source for malonyl-CoA.

A second possible alternative pathway for the generation of malonyl-CoA in humans is via the activity of propionyl-CoA carboxylase (PCC). It has been shown for the PCCs of several organisms that these enzymes can also accept acetyl-CoA as a substrate [143–145]. In mammals, PCC is a mitochondrially localized protein abundant in the heart and has also been demonstrated to metabolize acetyl-CoA [146].

4.2. Comments on biotinylation of apo-ACC, biotin:apoprotein ligase

To date, no investigation addressing the biotinylation of yeast Hfa1p ACC has been published. The only biotin:apoprotein ligase in *S. cerevisiae*, encoded by the *BPL*1 gene [147], has not been shown to enter the mitochondria and is not predicted to harbor an N-terminal mitochondrial import sequence. It has been reported that the lipoic acid content of a *bpl*1 point mutant is similar to wild-type [124]. Like in yeast, the human genome encodes only one biotin:apoprotein ligase (holocarboxylase synthase, HLCS) [148] which is predicted to be localized to the cytosol [149]. However, at least three biotin dependent human enzymes reside in the mitochondria, indicating that there must be either import of the holoenzymes or that a biotin:apoprotein ligase must be present in human mitochondria.

5. Octanoyl-ACP, lipoic acid and other products

All of the mitochondrial FAS II enzymes involved in the acvl chain elongation cycle characterized so far are clearly able to utilize substrates longer than C6 or C8. The physiological relevance of products longer than octanoic acid, however, is not clear. There is some in vivo and in organello data that appears to confirm the existence of longer chain fatty acid products of mitochondrial FAS II pathway in different organisms. For N. crassa, hexanoic and caprylic acid and hydroxymyristic acid, as well as a myristic acid end products attached to ACP were reported [150]. Analysis of ¹⁴C] -malonyl-CoA incorporation into fatty acids produced in isolated pea leaf mitochondria indicated that octanoic, hydroxymyristic, lauric, and palmitic fatty acids [140] as well as stearic acid [142] were generated by mitochondrial FAS II. About 30% of the labeled product in pea plant was attached to the H protein of glycine decarboxylase by a DTT-insensitive linkage, leading to the conclusion that a large fraction of mitochondrial FAS II – generated fatty acid was used in the production of the covalently attached lipoic acid cofactor of the H protein [140]. It was subsequently shown in yeast that disruption of ACP1 [111] or other yeast mitochondrial FAS genes [8,21,68,123,151,152] all resulted in lipoic acid deficiency in S. cerevisiae. Investigation of the mitochondrial FAS products of *T. brucei* suggested the production of fatty acids of up to C16 in isolated mitochondria incubated in the presence of [¹⁴C]-malonyl-CoA, and the RNAi knockdown of T. brucei mitochondrial ACP resulted in a marked reduction of lipoic acid recovered from these cells [136]. It was also demonstrated that highly purified bovine heart mitochondrial matrix preparations were sufficient to generate fatty acids of up to C14 length from 2-carbon precursors [153]. Octanoic acid was revealed to be one of the main products in these assays, and it was shown that this product could be recovered in the H-protein of the glycine cleavage system after addition of apo-H protein to the mitochondrial matrix extract. Noteworthily, the presence of H-protein itself in yeast is required for lipoylation of Lat1 and Kgd2, the respective E2 subunits of pyruvate dehydrogenase and α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase [154]. Recently, it was demonstrated in RNAi knockdown experiments in human embryonic kidney cells that downregulation of ACP results in severely impaired protein lipoylation [155]. All this data indicates that the octanoic acid precursor for lipoic acid synthesis is one of the main products of mitochondrial FAS pathway in all the models investigated so far.

The relevance of the longer products generated in this pathway is not clear to date. Disrupting mitochondrial FAS appears to affect the mitochondrial phospholipids composition [105], but it is not known whether this is a direct effect due to decreased channeling of mitochondrially synthesized fatty acids into phospholipids or a pleiotropic effect due to a disturbed mitochondrial metabolism. It has been reported that a mutation in the yeast CEM1 gene, encoding the yeast KAS, resulted in a 50% reduction of cardiolipin and a 30% reduction of mitochondrial phosphatidylethanolamine, with a concomitant increase of mitochondrial phosphatidic acid, phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylinositol [156]. A similar observation was made in T. brucei, where RNAi knockdown of mitochondrial ACP results initially in an increase of total phosphatidylserine, followed by a return to normal levels and a drop of phosphatidylethanolamine levels to 35% of the level before RNAi [157]. The authors hypothesized that mitochondrial FAS pathway may be required for the repair of lipids damaged by reactive oxygen species. To date, however, incorporation of mitochondrially synthesized fatty acids into phospholipids has not been demonstrated.

As an alternative role for fatty acids longer than C8, it has been suggested that these compounds may be used for protein acylation and serve as a membrane anchor. This possibility has not been investigated thoroughly. A special case of an example for long chain acylation is 3-hydroxymyristyl-ACP itself in its incarnation as a component of complex I of mammalian mitochondria [158]. Future labeling experiments designed to follow the nature and fate of mitochondrially synthesized fatty acids may help to answer these important questions.

5.1. Lipoic acid as a vitamin

A host of pharmacological applications of lipoic acid, ranging from the treatment of the effects of diabetes [159], Alzheimer's disease [160] and mood disorders [161] through relieving oxidative stress in surgery [162] have been described. There is a large body of literature confirming that lipoic acid is a powerful antioxidant which has features of a vitamin for humans [163]. Mammals rely on lipoic-acid dependent enzyme complexes for mitochondrial and respiratory functions. Yet, we are not aware of any evidence that indicates that dietary lipoic acid is used in the activation of these mitochondrial enzyme complexes, and all the data available to date indicate that this may indeed not be the case. It has been shown that mammals have an intrinsic mitochondrial lipoyl activating and transferring machinery [164,165] was well as mitochondrial lipoic acid synthesis machinery [166] which is essential for embryo development in mouse [167]. The deleterious effects of a knockout mutation of mouse lipoic acid synthase on embryonic growth cannot be mitigated by supplementary feeding of lipoic acid to the mother. In addition, the lipoylation defect caused by the RNAi knockdown of human ACP RNAi in human tissue culture cells could not be rescued by supplementation with external lipoic acid [155]. The possibility should therefore be considered that mitochondrially synthesized lipoic acid and lipoic acid taken up as a nutrient may fulfill two different roles in mammalian metabolism, with the former being required for an ancient role in the activation lipoic-acid dependent enzyme complexes, and the latter in an acquired role as a protectant against oxidative damage in the cell. Future studies will shed more light on this issue.

6. Mitochondrial FAS and RNA processing

RNaseP is an essential endonuclease found in bacteria, archae, eukaryotes and their organelles and is responsible for the endonucleolytic cleavage at the 5'-ends of precursor tRNAs to generate the mature form. tRNA processing is crucial for the expression of mitochondrial mRNAs because tRNAs are co-transcribed and distributed between mRNAs. RNase P enzymes typically are ribonucleoproteins and consist of an essential RNA subunit and one or more protein subunits. In humans, the nuclear RNase P complex contains ten protein subunits: RPP14, RPP20, RPP21, RPP25, RPP29, RPP30, RPP38, RPP40, hPOP5, and hPOP1, as well as the H1 RNA component [168]. Yeast nuclear RNase P has a similar composition, but several homologs of human subunits are missing [169]. The RNase P complex found in yeast mitochondria bears more resemblance to prokaryotic enzymes, as it is composed of a single protein subunit, Rpm2p encoded in the nucleus, and the RPM1 RNA component, encoded by the mitochondrial genome. An interesting feature of yeast mitochondrial RNAse P is the fact that its activity itself is required for the 5' trimming of the RPM1 RNA subunit, a modification step essential for further RPM1 maturation steps and ultimately for yeast mitochondrial RNAse P function [170]. Until very recently, the nature of human mitochondrial RNAse P had been subject to a heated debate. Mammals and many other eukaryotes lack a mitochondrially encoded RNAse P RNA [169], and it was reported that human mitochondrial RNAse P activity was resistant to rigorous RNAse treatment, indicating that the human enzyme did not contain an RNA subunit [171]. In a contrasting publication, however, a different group found a mitochondrial RNAase P containing the same RNA subunit as the human nuclear RNAse P [172]. The recent identification and *in vitro* reconstitution of an RNA-free human mitochondrial RNAse P [173] as a "patchwork enzyme" [174] composed of three protein subunits, MRPP1, MRPP2 and MRPP3, the former two presiously annotated with different functions, has put this debate to rest. It is noteworthy within the context of this review that the MRPP2 subunit of the human mitochondrial RNAse P is a highly conserved SDR protein which had previously been suggested to be a homotetrameric enzyme involved in lipid metabolism [175].

Mitochondrial FAS II is linked to RNAse P in both yeast and vertebrates, but the link is distinctly different between these groups of organisms. In S. cerevisiae, it has been shown recently that deletion of any one of the mitochondrial FAS II genes will result in a severe impairment of maturation of the RPM1 RNA subunit of mitochondrial RNAse P [3]. It was also reported earlier that a mutation affecting the yeast Lip5p lipoic acid synthase resulted in a defect of processing of mitochondrial tRNA, which may be conveniently explained by a lack of RNAse P function. This matter is complicated, however, by the existence of a positive feedback loop between lipoic acid synthase function and availability of acetyl-CoA, the basic substrate for fatty acid chain elongation, via the activity of pyruvate dehydrogenase, one of the lipoic-acid dependent enzymes [176]. A defect in lipoylation could therefore trigger a shortage of acetyl-CoA in the mitochondria and reduce fatty acid synthesis, which would decrease lipoylation even further, yielding in a downward spiral for acetyl-CoA production and mitochondrial FAS. Hence, it is not clear to date if lipoic acid or mitochondrially synthesized fatty acids themselves cause the tRNA processing defect in *lip5* mutants. It is even less clear how lipoic acid or fatty acids can affect the activity of mitochondrial RNAse P. Two models have been put forward to explain the requirement of mitochondrial FAS II for RPM1 processing in yeast [3]. The first model proposes a direct modification of RNAse P by a product of mitochondrial FAS II, while the second model invokes an indirectly acting fatty acid or downstream product affecting RNAse P assembly or activity. It has been demonstrated that at least the Rpm2p subunit of yeast mitochondrial RNAse P is not lipoylated [3].

The conserved genetic linkage of the vertebrate gene encoding human mitochondrial FAS II HsHTD2 with a subunit of vertebrate RNAse P on the same bicistronic transcript appears even more mysterious. We usually associate the expression of polycistronic transcripts with prokaryotes, where many of the genes are clustered in operons often containing from two to more than ten genes. These operons allow for coordinated expression of proteins with related functions. The RPP14 - HsHTD2 bicistronic transcript is not the first eukaryotic mRNA of this kind described [177]. In the reported cases, the transcripts can be sorted into two different groups depending on the fate of the RNA. In the first type, occurring in Caenorhabditis elegans [178] flatworms [179] and some primitive chordates [180], an initially polycistronic transcript is generated which is subsequently converted into a monocistronic mRNA by 3' end cleavage and trans-splicing [177]. The second type represents a truly bicistronic mRNA encoding two different proteins which both are translated from the same transcript after transport into the cytosol. In mammals, the first bicistronic gene cluster was described by Lee in 1991 [181]. In several cases, alternative shorter variants of the mRNA are produced, containing only the 3' open reading frame (ORF) where now an internal AUG codon a functions as the translational start site. Such transcripts should be considered functionally monocistronic [182]. Nevertheless, in addition to the RPP14-HsHTD2 case, at least three more genuinely bicistronic transcripts have been described in humans [181,183-185].

Since it has become clear that RPP14 is not part of the mammalian mitochondrial RNAse P [173], the connection between human mitochondrial FAS II and RNA processing has become even more puzzling. The physical connection of these ORFs on the same transcript has apparently been established early in the vertebrate lineage and maintained for close to half a billion years [8], indicating a possible selective advantage for this arrangement. Linking the expression of a component of the nuclear RNAse P, a key enzyme in the control of general translation and cell division [168], to a component of mitochondrial FAS II, which controls respiration and lipoylation of mitochondrial proteins in mammals [155] may serve to coordinate nuclear gene expression and mitochondrial activity. The change of relationship between mitochondrial FAS II and RNAse P may be a reflection of the fundamental differences between the respiratory requirements of a yeast cell and human cells. Given the propensity of the human mind to want to see connections even where there is none, we should also not close our eves to the possibility that, as striking this linkage of pathways in yeast and humans may seem it may just be a result of coincidence.

7. Comments and future directions

Although two decades have passed since the identification of ACP from N. crassa, the awareness of the mitochondrial FAS II pathway as a cellular process essential for mitochondrial functions also has only risen during the past few years. The KAS enzymes characterized in this pathway accept only acyl-ACPs as substrates, which metabolically separates β-oxidation and fatty acid synthesis in mammalian mitochondria. In principle, the operation of acyl-CoA dehydrogenases and ETR1 could constitute a futile cycle between acyl-CoAs and 2-enoyl-CoAs, but whether this occurs in vivo or how exactly it is prevented is not known. The issue whether the mitochondrial FAS II generates other physiologically relevant products than octanoyl-ACP and 3-hydroxymyristoyl-ACP in vivo remains an open question. At least the kinetic properties and structural features of the FAS enzymes studied in vitro as well as in organelle allow the generation of longer products. If these longer fatty acids are made in mitochondria, the destination of the generated acyl groups is an enigma. Do acyl-ACP accepting transacylases also exist in mammalian mitochondria?

Prokaryotic FAS enzymes are frequently used as drug targets as demonstrated by treatment of tuberculosis by isoniazid or use of triclosan. These drugs specifically target prokaryotes, but not because of the absence of a FAS type II in mammals as stipulated earlier, but because their target molecules FabI or InhA in bacteria, which belong to the SDR protein family, were replaced by the structurally different ETR1 MDR protein in eukaryotes. The prokaryotic FAS systems still represent promising drug targets, but the recognition of a similar system also in mitochondria calls for consideration of mammalian proteins. The ability to complement yeast FAS II mutants with prokaryotic of human counterparts may hold some potential to be developed into a tool that allows for a quick assessment of specificity of a bacterial anti- FAS II drug candidate, its ability to penetrate a cell wall and membrane, and its effect on eukaryotic metabolism in general.

As discussed above, the low level of cellular lipoic acid in the yeast strains deficient in functional mitochondrial FAS is probably not the only factors leading to the respiratory deficient phenotype. These cells are lacking mitochondrially encoded cytochromes and they also display impaired mitochondrial RNA processing. The elucidation of molecular link(s) between these processes will provide a challenge in future studies.

Thus far, there has been little evidence linking the mitochondrial FAS pathway to disease in mammals. A recent report on the development of cardiomyopathy in transgenic mice overpressing Etr1/Mecr [186] now establishes a possible connection between mitochondrial FAS and heart disease. Furthermore, compromising protein lipoylation and respiratory complex I results in cell death in cultured human embryonic kidney 293T cells upon shutdown of ACP using RNAi technology [155]. We predict that the future will reveal novel associations with mitochondrial FAS and diseases in human.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the members of the Hiltunen and Wierenga laboratories for helpful discussions. Our original work was supported by the grants from the Academy of Finland, Sigrid Juselius Foundation and Nordic Center of Excellence Programme in Food Nutrition, and Health Project (070010) "MitoHealth".

References

- White SW, Zheng J, Zhang YM, Rock CO. The structural biology of type II fatty acid biosynthesis. Ann Rev Biochem 2005;74:791–831.
- [2] Hiltunen JK, Schonauer MS, Autio KJ, Mittelmeier TM, Kastaniotis AJ, Dieckmann CL. Mitochondrial FAS type II – more than just fatty acids. J Biol Chem 2008;284:9011–5.
- [3] Schonauer MS, Kastaniotis AJ, Hiltunen JK, Dieckmann CL. Intersection of RNA processing and the type II fatty acid synthesis pathway in yeast mitochondria. Mol Cell Biol 2008;28:6646–57.
- [4] Brody S, Mikolajczyk S. Neurospora mitochondria contain an acyl-carrier protein. Eur J Biochem 1988;173:353–9.
- [5] Joshi AK, Zhang L, Rangan VS, Smith S. Cloning, expression, and characterization of a human 4'-phosphopantetheinyl transferase with broad substrate specificity. J Biol Chem 2003;278:33142–9.
- [6] Zhang L, Joshi AK, Smith S. Cloning, expression, characterization, and interaction of two components of a human mitochondrial fatty acid synthase. Malonyltransferase and acyl carrier protein. J Biol Chem 2003;278:40067-74.
- [7] Zhang L, Joshi AK, Hofmann J, Schweizer E, Smith S. Cloning, expression, and characterization of the human mitochondrial β-ketoacyl synthase. Complementation of the yeast CEM1 knock-out strain. J Biol Chem 2005;280:12422–9.
- [8] Autio KJ, Kastaniotis AJ, Pospiech H, Miinalainen IJ, Schonauer MS, Dieckmann CL, et al. An ancient genetic link between vertebrate mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis and RNA processing. FASEB J 2008;22:569–78.
- [9] Miinalainen IJ, Chen ZJ, Torkko JM, Pirila PL, Sormunen RT, Bergmann U, et al. Characterization of 2-enoyl thioester reductase from mammals. An ortholog of YBR026p/MRF1'p of the yeast mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis type II. J Biol Chem 2003;278:20154–61.
- [10] Chen Z, Kastaniotis AJ, Miinalainen IJ, Rajaram V, Wierenga RK, Hiltunen JK. 17 β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 8 and carbonyl reductase type 4 assemble as a ketoacyl reductase of human mitochondrial FAS. FASEB J 2009. doi:10.1096/fi.09-133587.
- [11] Lambalot RH, Gehring AM, Flugel RS, Zuber P, LaCelle M, Marahiel MA, et al. A new enzyme superfamily – the phosphopantetheinyl transferases. Chem Biol 1996;3:923–36.
- [12] Mootz HD, Finking R, Marahiel MA. 4'-phosphopantetheine transfer in primary and secondary metabolism of *Bacillus subtilis*. J Biol Chem 2001;276:37289–98.
- [13] Parris KD, Lin L, Tam A, Mathew R, Hixon J, Stahl M, et al. Crystal structures of substrate binding to Bacillus subtilis holo (acyl carrier protein) synthase reveal a novel trimeric arrangement of molecules resulting in three active sites. Structure 2000;8:883–95.
- [14] Chirgadze NY, Briggs SL, McAllister KA, Fischl AS, Zhao G. Crystal structure of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* acyl carrier protein synthase: an essential enzyme in bacterial fatty acid biosynthesis. EMBO J 2000;19:5281–7.
- [15] Nakano MM, Corbell N, Besson J, Zuber P. Isolation and characterization of sfp: a gene that functions in the production of the lipopeptide biosurfactant, surfactin, in *Bacillus subtilis*. Mol Gen Genet 1992;232:313–21.
- [16] Reuter K, Mofid MR, Marahiel MA, Ficner R. Crystal structure of the surfactin synthetase-activating enzyme sfp: a prototype of the 4'-phosphopantetheinyl transferase superfamily. EMBO J 1999;18:6823–31.
- [17] Lambalot RH, Walsh CT. Cloning, overproduction, and characterization of the Escherichia coli holo-acyl carrier protein synthase. J Biol Chem 1995;270:24658-61.
- [18] Stuible HP, Meier S, Schweizer E. Identification, isolation and biochemical characterization of a phosphopantetheine:Protein transferase that activates the two type-I fatty acid synthases of *Brevibacterium ammoniagenes*. Eur J Biochem 1997;248:481–7.
- [19] Fichtlscherer F, Wellein C, Mittag M, Schweizer E. A novel function of yeast fatty acid synthase. Subunit α is capable of self-pantetheinylation. Eur J Biochem 2000;267:2666–71.
- [20] Miller KG, Bhattacharjee JK. The LYS5 gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Gene 1996;172:167–8.

- [21] Stuible HP, Meier S, Wagner C, Hannappel E, Schweizer E. A novel phosphopantetheine: protein transferase activating yeast mitochondrial acyl carrier protein. J Biol Chem 1998;273:22334–9.
- [22] Ehmann DE, Gehring AM, Walsh CT. Lysine biosynthesis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: mechanism of alpha-aminoadipate reductase (Lys2) involves posttranslational phosphopantetheinylation by Lys5. Biochemistry 1999;38:6171-7.
- [23] Bunkoczi G, Pasta S, Joshi A, Wu X, Kavanagh KL, Smith S, et al. Mechanism and substrate recognition of human holo ACP synthase. Chem Biol 2007;14:1243–53.
- [24] Mofid MR, Finking R, Essen LO, Marahiel MA. Structure-based mutational analysis of the 4'-phosphopantetheinyl transferases sfp from *Bacillus subtilis*: carrier protein recognition and reaction mechanism. Biochemistry 2004;43:4128–36.
- [25] Joshi VC, Wakil SJ. Studies on the mechanism of fatty acid synthesis. XXVI. purification and properties of malonyl-coenzyme A-acyl carrier protein transacylase of *Escherichia coli*. Arch Biochem Biophys 1971;143:493–505.
- [26] Ruch FE, Vagelos PR. Characterization of a malonyl-enzyme intermediate and identification of the malonyl binding site in malonyl coenzyme A-acyl carrier protein transacylase of *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 1973;248:8095–106.
- [27] Ruch FE, Vagelos PR. The isolation and general properties of *Escherichia coli* malonyl coenzyme A-acyl carrier protein transacylase. J Biol Chem 1973;248:8086–94.
- [28] Schneider R, Brors B, Burger F, Camrath S, Weiss H. Two genes of the putative mitochondrial fatty acid synthase in the genome of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Curr Genet 1997;32:384–8.
- [29] Liu W, Han C, Hu L, Chen K, Shen X, Jiang H. Characterization and inhibitor discovery of one novel malonyl-CoA: acyl carrier protein transacylase (MCAT) from *Helicobacter pylori*. FEBS Lett 2006;580:697–702.
- [30] Zhang L, Liu W, Xiao J, Hu T, Chen J, Chen K, et al. Malonyl-CoA: acyl carrier protein transacylase from *Helicobacter pylori*: crystal structure and its interaction with acyl carrier protein. Protein Sci 2007;16:1184–92.
- [31] Li Z, Huang Y, Ge J, Fan H, Zhou X, Li S, et al. The crystal structure of MCAT from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* reveals three new catalytic models. J Mol Biol 2007;371:1075–83.
- [32] Keatinge-Clay AT, Shelat AA, Savage DF, Tsai SC, Miercke LJ, O'Connell 3rd JD, et al. Catalysis, specificity, and ACP docking site of *Streptomyces coelicolor* malonyl-CoA:ACP transacylase. Structure 2003;11:147–54.
- [33] Serre L, Verbree EC, Dauter Z, Stuitje AR, Derewenda ZS. The Escherichia coli malonyl-CoA: acyl carrier protein transacylase at 1.5 Å resolution. Crystal structure of a fatty acid synthase component. J Biol Chem 1995;270: 12961–4.
- [34] Airenne TT, Torkko JM, Van den plas S, Sormunen RT, Kastaniotis AJ, Wierenga RK, et al. Structure-function analysis of enoyl thioester reductase involved in mitochondrial maintenance. | Mol Biol 2003;327:47–59.
- [35] Ollis DL, Cheah E, Cygler M, Dijkstra B, Frolow F, Franken SM, et al. The α/β hydrolase fold. Protein Eng 1992;5:197–211.
- [36] Hol WG, van Duijnen PT, Berendsen HJ. The α-helix dipole and the properties of proteins. Nature 1978;273:443–6.
- [37] Kortemme T, Creighton TE. Ionisation of cysteine residues at the termini of model alpha-helical peptides. Relevance to unusual thiol pKa values in proteins of the thioredoxin family. J Mol Biol 1995;253:799–812.
 [38] Serre L, Swenson L, Green R, Wei Y, Verwoert II, Verbree EC, et al.
- [38] Serre L, Swenson L, Green R, Wei Y, Verwoert II, Verbree EC, et al. Crystallization of the malonyl coenzyme A-acyl carrier protein transacylase from *Escherichia coli*. J Mol Biol 1994;242:99–102.
- [39] Szafranska AE, Hitchman TS, Cox RJ, Crosby J, Simpson TJ. Kinetic and mechanistic analysis of the malonyl CoA: ACP transacylase from *Streptomyces coelicolor* indicates a single catalytically competent serine nucleophile at the active site. Biochemistry 2002;41:1421–7.
- [40] Oefner C, Schulz H, D'Arcy A, Dale GE. Mapping the active site of *Escherichia coli* malonyl-CoA-acyl carrier protein transacylase (FabD) by protein crystallography. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 2006;62:613–8.
- [41] Haapalainen AM, Merilainen G, Wierenga RK. The thiolase superfamily: condensing enzymes with diverse reaction specificities. Trends Biochem Sci 2006;31:64–71.
- [42] Heath RJ, Rock CO. The claisen condensation in biology. Nat Prod Rep 2002;19:581–96.
- [43] Austin MB, Noel JP. The chalcone synthase superfamily of type III polyketide synthases. Nat Prod Rep 2003;20:79–110.
- [44] Maier T, Leibundgut M, Ban N. The crystal structure of a mammalian fatty acid synthase. Science 2008;321:1315–22.
- [45] Yasuno R, von Wettstein-Knowles P, Wada H. Identification and molecular characterization of the β -ketoacyl-[acyl carrier protein] synthase component of the *Arabidopsis* mitochondrial fatty acid synthase. J Biol Chem 2004;279:8242–51.
- [46] Huang W, Jia J, Edwards P, Dehesh K, Schneider G, Lindqvist Y. Crystal structure of β-ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthase II from *E. coli* reveals the molecular architecture of condensing enzymes. EMBO J 1998;17:1183–91.
- [47] Davies C, Heath RJ, White SW, Rock CO. The 1.8 Å crystal structure and activesite architecture of β-ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthase III (FabH) from *Escherichia coli*. Structure 2000;8:185–95.
- [48] Qiu X, Janson CA, Smith WW, Head M, Lonsdale J, Konstantinidis AK. Refined structures of β -ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthase III. J Mol Biol 2001;307:341–56.
- [49] Kursula P, Ojala J, Lambeir AM, Wierenga RK. The catalytic cycle of biosynthetic thiolase: a conformational journey of an acetyl group through

four binding modes and two oxyanion holes. Biochemistry 2002;41:15543–56.

- [50] Haapalainen AM, Meriläinen G, Pirilä PL, Kondo N, Fukao T, Wierenga RK. Crystallographic and kinetic studies of human mitochondrial acetoacetyl-CoA thiolase: the importance of potassium and chloride ions for its structure and function. Biochemistry 2007;46:4305–21.
- [51] Hedstrom L. Serine protease mechanism and specificity. Chem Rev 2002;102:4501–24.
- [52] Jiang C, Kim SY, Suh DY. Divergent evolution of the thiolase superfamily and chalcone synthase family. Mol Phylogenet Evol 2008;49:691–701.
- [53] Dawe JH, Porter CT, Thornton JM, Tabor AB. A template search reveals mechanistic similarities and differences in β-ketoacyl synthases (KAS) and related enzymes. Proteins 2003;52:427–35.
- [54] Modis Y, Wierenga RK. Crystallographic analysis of the reaction pathway of Zoogloea ramigera biosynthetic thiolase. J Mol Biol 2000;297:1171–82.
- [55] von Wettstein-Knowles P, Olsen JG, McGuire KA, Henriksen A. Fatty acid synthesis. Role of active site histidines and lysine in cys-his-his-type βketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthases. FEBS | 2006;273:695–710.
- [56] McGuire KA, Siggaard-Andersen M, Bangera MG, Olsen JG, von Wettstein-Knowles P. β-Ketoacyl-[acyl carrier protein] synthase I of *Escherichia coli*: Aspects of the condensation mechanism revealed by analyses of mutations in the active site pocket. Biochemistry 2001;40:9836–45.
- [57] Price AC, Choi KH, Heath RJ, Li Z, White SW, Rock CO. Inhibition of β-ketoacylacyl carrier protein synthases by thiolactomycin and cerulenin. Structure and mechanism. J Biol Chem 2001;276:6551–9.
- [58] Scarsdale JN, Kazanina G, He X, Reynolds KA, Wright HT. Crystal structure of the Mycobacterium tuberculosis β-ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein synthase III. J Biol Chem 2001;276:20516–22.
- [59] Wang J. Soisson SM, Young K, Shoop W, Kodali S, Galgoci A, et al. Platensimycin is a selective FabF inhibitor with potent antibiotic properties. Nature 2006;441:358–61.
- [60] Christensen CE, Kragelund BB, von Wettstein-Knowles P, Henriksen A. Structure of the human β-ketoacyl [ACP] synthase from the mitochondrial type II fatty acid synthase. Protein Sci 2007;16:261–72.
- [61] Jones AL, Herbert D, Rutter AJ, Dancer JE, Harwood JL. Novel inhibitors of the condensing enzymes of the type II fatty acid synthase of pea (*Pisum sativum*). Biochem J 2000;347:205–9.
- [62] Olsen JG, Rasmussen AV, von Wettstein-Knowles P, Henriksen A. Structure of the mitochondrial β-ketoacyl-[acyl carrier protein] synthase from Arabidopsis and its role in fatty acid synthesis. FEBS Lett 2004;577:170–4.
- [63] Price AC, Zhang YM, Rock CO, White SW. Cofactor-induced conformational rearrangements establish a catalytically competent active site and a proton relay conduit in FabG. Structure 2004;12:417–28.
- [64] Price AC, Zhang YM, Rock CO, White SW. Structure of β-ketoacyl-[acyl carrier protein] reductase from *Escherichia coli*: negative cooperativity and its structural basis. Biochemistry 2001;40:12772–81.
- [65] Fisher M, Kroon JT, Martindale W, Stuitje AR, Slabas AR, Rafferty JB. The X-ray structure of *Brassica napus* β-keto acyl carrier protein reductase and its implications for substrate binding and catalysis. Structure 2000;8: 339–47.
- [66] Park SJ, Lee SY. Identification and characterization of a new enoyl coenzyme a hydratase involved in biosynthesis of medium-chain-length polyhydroxyalkanoates in recombinant *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 2003;185:5391–7.
- [67] Kastaniotis AJ, Autio KJ, Sormunen RT, Hiltunen JK. Htd2p/Yhr067p is a yeast 3-hydroxyacyl-ACP dehydratase essential for mitochondrial function and morphology. Mol Microbiol 2004;53:1407–21.
- [68] Autio KJ, Guler JL, Kastaniotis AJ, Englund PT, Hiltunen JK. The 3-hydroxyacyl-ACP dehydratase of mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis in *Trypanosoma brucei*. FEBS Lett 2008;582:729–33.
- [69] Sacco E, Covarrubias AS, O'Hare HM, Carroll P, Eynard N, Jones TA, et al. The missing piece of the type II fatty acid synthase system from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104:14628–33.
- [70] Kozak M. Pushing the limits of the scanning mechanism for initiation of translation. Gene 2002;299:1–34.
- [71] Leesong M, Henderson BS, Gillig JR, Schwab JM, Smith JL. Structure of a dehydratase-isomerase from the bacterial pathway for biosynthesis of unsaturated fatty acids: Two catalytic activities in one active site. Structure 1996;4:253–64.
- [72] Koski MK, Haapalainen AM, Hiltunen JK, Glumoff T. A two-domain structure of one subunit explains unique features of eukaryotic hydratase 2. J Biol Chem 2004;279:24666–72.
- [73] Qin YM, Haapalainen AM, Kilpelainen SH, Marttila MS, Koski MK, Glumoff T, et al. Human peroxisomal multifunctional enzyme type 2. Site-directed mutagenesis studies show the importance of two protic residues for 2-enoyl-CoA hydratase 2 activity. J Biol Chem 2000;275:4965–72.
- [74] Koski KM, Haapalainen AM, Hiltunen JK, Glumoff T. Crystal structure of 2enoyl-CoA hydratase 2 from human peroxisomal multifunctional enzyme type 2. J Mol Biol 2005;345:1157–69.
- [75] Jörnvall H, Nordling E, Persson B. Multiplicity of eukaryotic ADH and other MDR forms. Chem Biol Interact 2003;143–4:255–61.
- [76] Jörnvall H, Persson B, Krook M, Atrian S, Gonzalez-Duarte R, Jeffery J, et al. Short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases (SDR). Biochemistry 1995;34: 6003–13.
- [77] Kallberg Y, Oppermann U, Jörnvall H, Persson B. Short-chain dehydrogenases/ reductases (SDRs). Eur J Biochem 2002;269:4409–17.

- [78] Oppermann U, Filling C, Hult M, Shafqat N, Wu X, Lindh M, et al. Short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases (SDR): the 2002 update. Chem Biol Interact 2003;143–144:247–53.
- [79] Baker ME. Enoyl-acyl-carrier-protein reductase and Mycobacterium tuberculosis InhA do not conserve the tyr-xaa-xaa-lys motif in mammalian 11 β- and 17 β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases and Drosophila alcohol dehydrogenase. Biochem J 1995;309:1029–30.
- [80] Duax WL, Griffin JF, Ghosh D. The fascinating complexities of steroid-binding enzymes. Curr Opin Struct Biol 1996;6:813–23.
- [81] Nordling E, Jörnvall H, Persson B. Medium-chain dehydrogenases/reductases (MDR). Family characterizations including genome comparisons and active site modeling. Eur J Biochem 2002;269:4267–76.
- [82] Wierenga RK. The TIM-barrel fold: a versatile framework for efficient enzymes. FEBS Lett 2001;492:193–8.
- [83] Ma BG, Chen L, Ji HF, Chen ZH, Yang FR, Wang L, et al. Characters of very ancient proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008;366:607–11.
- [84] Rock CO, Cronan JE. Escherichia coli as a model for the regulation of dissociable (type II) fatty acid biosynthesis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996;1302:1–16.
- [85] Heath RJ, Su N, Murphy CK, Rock CO. The enoyl-[acyl-carrier-protein] reductases Fabl and FabL from *Bacillus subtilis*. J Biol Chem 2000;275:40128–33.
- [86] Marrakchi H, Zhang YM, Rock CO. Mechanistic diversity and regulation of type II fatty acid synthesis. Biochem Soc Trans 2002;30:1050–5.
- [87] Massengo-Tiasse RP, Cronan JE. Vibrio cholerae FabV defines a new class of enoyl-acyl carrier protein reductase. J Biol Chem 2008;283:1308–16.
- [88] Heath RJ, Rock CO. A triclosan-resistant bacterial enzyme. Nature 2000;406:145–6.
- [89] Heath RJ, Rubin JR, Holland DR, Zhang E, Snow ME, Rock CO. Mechanism of triclosan inhibition of bacterial fatty acid synthesis. J Biol Chem 1999;274:11110–4.
- [90] Banerjee A, Dubnau E, Quemard A, Balasubramanian V, Um KS, Wilson T, et al. InhA, a gene encoding a target for isoniazid and ethionamide in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Science 1994;263:227–30.
- [91] Saito J, Yamada M, Watanabe T, Iida M, Kitagawa H, Takahata S, et al. Crystal structure of enoyl-acyl carrier protein reductase (FabK) from *Streptococcus* pneumoniae reveals the binding mode of an inhibitor. Protein Sci 2008;17:691-9.
- [92] Rafferty JB, Simon JW, Baldock C, Artymiuk PJ, Baker PJ, Stuitje AR, et al. Common themes in redox chemistry emerge from the X-ray structure of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*) enoyl acyl carrier protein reductase. Structure 1995;3:927–38.
- [93] Kim KH, Park JK, Ha BH, Moon JH, Kim EE. Crystallization and preliminary Xray crystallographic analysis of enoyl-ACP reductase III (FabL) from Bacillus subtilis. Acta Crystallogr Sect F Struct Biol Cryst Commun 2007;63:246–8.
- [94] Torkko JM, Koivuranta KT, Miinalainen IJ, Yagi AI, Schmitz W, Kastaniotis AJ, et al. Candida tropicalis Etr1p and Saccharomyces cerevisiae Ybr026p (Mrf1'p), 2-enoyl thioester reductases essential for mitochondrial respiratory competence. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:6243–53.
- [95] Torkko JM, Koivuranta KT, Kastaniotis AJ, Airenne TT, Glumoff T, Ilves M, et al. Candida tropicalis expresses two mitochondrial 2-enoyl thioester reductases that are able to form both homodimers and heterodimers. J Biol Chem 2003;278:41213–20.
- [96] Chen ZJ, Pudas R, Sharma S, Smart OS, Juffer AH, Hiltunen JK, et al. Structural enzymological studies of 2-enoyl thioester reductase of the human mitochondrial FAS II pathway: New insights into its substrate recognition properties. J Mol Biol 2008;379:830–44.
- [97] Jenni S, Leibundgut M, Maier T, Ban N. Architecture of a fungal fatty acid synthase at 5 Å resolution. Science 2006;311:1263–7.
- [98] Fox JL, Lynen F. Characterization of the flavoenzyme enoyl reductase of fatty acid synthetase from yeast. Eur J Biochem 1980;109:417–24.
- [99] Maier T, Jenni S, Ban N. Architecture of mammalian fatty acid synthase at 4.5 Å resolution. Science 2006;311:1258–62.
- [100] Das AK, Uhler MD, Hajra AK. Molecular cloning and expression of mammalian peroxisomal *trans*-2-enoyl-coenzyme A reductase cDNAs. J Biol Chem 2000;275:24333–40.
- [101] Majerus PW, Alberts AW, Vagelos PR. The acyl carrier protein of fatty acid synthesis: Purification, physical properties, and substrate binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1964;51:1231–8.
- [102] Elovson J, Vagelos PR. Acyl carrier protein X. Acyl carrier protein synthetase. J Biol Chem 1968;243:3603–11.
- [103] Byers DM, Gong H. Acyl carrier protein: structure-function relationships in a conserved multifunctional protein family. Biochem Cell Biol 2007;85:649–62.
- [104] Lakin-Thomas PL, Brody S. Neurospora crassa mitochondria contain two forms of a 4'-phosphopantetheine-modified protein. J Biol Chem 1986;261:4785–8.
- [105] Schneider R, Massow M, Lisowsky T, Weiss H. Different respiratory-defective phenotypes of *Neurospora crassa* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* after inactivation of the gene encoding the mitochondrial acyl carrier protein. Curr Genet 1995;29:10–7.
- [106] Sackmann U, Zensen R, Rohlen D, Jahnke U, Weiss H. The acyl-carrier protein in *Neurospora crassa* mitochondria is a subunit of NADH: ubiquinone reductase (complex I). Eur J Biochem 1991;200:463–9.
- [107] Runswick MJ, Fearnley IM, Skehel JM, Walker JE. Presence of an acyl carrier protein in NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase from bovine heart mitochondria. FEBS Lett 1991;286:121–4.

- [108] Hirst J, Carroll J, Fearnley IM, Shannon RJ, Walker JE. The nuclear encoded subunits of complex I from bovine heart mitochondria. Biochim Biophys Acta 2003;1604:135–50.
- [109] Cronan JE, Fearnley IM, Walker JE. Mammalian mitochondria contain a soluble acyl carrier protein. FEBS Lett 2005;579:4892–6.
- [110] Keating DH, Carey MR, Cronan Jr JE. The unmodified (apo) form of Escherichia coli acyl carrier protein is a potent inhibitor of cell growth. J Biol Chem 1995;270:22229–35.
- [111] Brody S, Oh C, Hoja U, Schweizer E. Mitochondrial acyl carrier protein is involved in lipoic acid synthesis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. FEBS Lett 1997;408:217–20.
- [112] Zhang YM, Wu B, Zheng J, Rock CO. Key residues responsible for acyl carrier protein and beta-ketoacyl-acyl carrier protein reductase (FabG) interaction. J Biol Chem 2003;278:52935–43.
- [113] Roujeinikova A, Baldock C, Simon WJ, Gilroy J, Baker PJ, Stuitje AR, et al. X-ray crystallographic studies on butyryl-ACP reveal flexibility of the structure around a putative acyl chain binding site. Structure 2002;10:825–35.
- [114] Roujeinikova A, Simon WJ, Gilroy J, Rice DW, Rafferty JB, Slabas AR. Structural studies of fatty acyl-(acyl carrier protein) thioesters reveal a hydrophobic binding cavity that can expand to fit longer substrates. J Mol Biol 2007;365:135–45.
- [115] Zhang YM, Rao MS, Heath RJ, Price AC, Olson AJ, Rock CO, et al. Identification and analysis of the acyl carrier protein (ACP) docking site on beta-ketoacyl-ACP synthase III. J Biol Chem 2001;276:8231–8.
- [116] Rafi S, Novichenok P, Kolappan S, Zhang X, Stratton CF, Rawat R, et al. Structure of acyl carrier protein bound to Fabl, the FASII enoyl reductase from *Escherichia coli.* J Biol Chem 2006;281:39285–93.
- [117] Tropf S, Revill WP, Bibb MJ, Hopwood DA, Schweizer M. Heterologously expressed acyl carrier protein domain of rat fatty acid synthase functions in *Escherichia coli* fatty acid synthase and *Streptomyces coelicolor* polyketide synthase systems. Chem Biol 1998;5:135–46.
- [118] Leibundgut M, Jenni S, Frick C, Ban N. Structural basis for substrate delivery by acyl carrier protein in the yeast fatty acid synthase. Science 2007;316:288–90.
- [119] Choi-Rhee E, Cronan JE. The biotin carboxylase-biotin carboxyl carrier protein complex of *Escherichia coli* acetyl-CoA carboxylase. J Biol Chem 2003;278:30806–12.
- [120] Cronan Jr JE, Waldrop GL. Multi-subunit acetyl-CoA carboxylases. Prog Lipid Res 2002;41:407–35.
- [121] Nikolau BJ, Ohlrogge JB, Wurtele ES. Plant biotin-containing carboxylases. Arch Biochem Biophys 2003;414:211–22.
- [122] Focke M, Gieringer E, Schwan S, Jansch L, Binder S, Braun HP. Fatty acid biosynthesis in mitochondria of grasses: malonyl-coenzyme a is generated by a mitochondrial-localized acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase. Plant Physiol 2003;133:875–84.
- [123] Hoja U, Marthol S, Hofmann J, Stegner S, Schulz R, Meier S, et al. HFA1 encoding an organelle-specific acetyl-CoA carboxylase controls mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Biol Chem 2004;279:21779–86.
- [124] Hoja U, Wellein C, Greiner E, Schweizer E. Pleiotropic phenotype of acetyl-CoA-carboxylase-defective yeast cells-viability of a BPL1-amber mutation depending on its readthrough by normal tRNA(gln)(CAG). Eur J Biochem 1998;254:520–6.
- [125] Abu-Elheiga L, Brinkley WR, Zhong L, Chirala SS, Woldegiorgis G, Wakil SJ. The subcellular localization of acetyl-CoA carboxylase 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97:1444-9.
- [126] Abe K, Shinohara Y, Terada H. Isolation and characterization of cDNA encoding rat heart type acetyl-CoA carboxylase. Biochim Biophys Acta 1998;1398:347–52.
- [127] Thampy KG. Formation of malonyl coenzyme A in rat heart. Identification and purification of an isozyme of A carboxylase from rat heart. J Biol Chem 1989;264:17631–4.
- [128] Abu-Elheiga L, Oh W, Kordari P, Wakil SJ. Acetyl-CoA carboxylase 2 mutant mice are protected against obesity and diabetes induced by high-fat/highcarbohydrate diets. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:10207–12.
- [129] Castle JC, Hara Y, Raymond CK, Garrett-Engele P, Ohwaki K, Kan Z, et al. ACC2 is expressed at high levels human white adipose, has an isoform with a novel N-terminus. PLoS ONE 2009;4:e4369.
- [130] Pagliarini DJ, Calvo SE, Chang B, Sheth SA, Vafai SB, Ong SE, et al. A mitochondrial protein compendium elucidates complex I disease biology. Cell 2008;134:112–23.
- [131] Mao J, Chirala SS, Wakil SJ. Human acetyl-CoA carboxylase 1 gene: Presence of three promoters and heterogeneity at the 5'-untranslated mRNA region. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:7515–20.
- [132] Travers MT, Cambot M, Kennedy HT, Lenoir GM, Barber MC, Joulin V. Asymmetric expression of transcripts derived from the shared promoter between the divergently oriented ACACA and TADA2L genes. Genomics 2005;85:71–84.
- [133] Wakil SJ, Abu-Elheiga LA. Fatty acid metabolism: target for metabolic syndrome. J Lipid Res 2008;50:S138–43.
- [134] Slupphaug G, Markussen FH, Olsen LC, Aasland R, Aarsaether N, Bakke O, et al. Nuclear and mitochondrial forms of human uracil-DNA glycosylase are encoded by the same gene. Nucleic Acids Res 1993;21:2579–84.
- [135] Krokan HE, Otterlei M, Nilsen H, Kavli B, Skorpen F, Andersen S, et al. Properties and functions of human uracil-DNA glycosylase from the UNG gene. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 2001;68:365–86.

- [136] Stephens JL, Lee SH, Paul KS, Englund PT. Mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis in *Trypanosoma brucei*. J Biol Chem 2007;282:4427–36.
- [137] Prohl C, Pelzer W, Diekert K, Kmita H, Bedekovics T, Kispal G, et al. The yeast mitochondrial carrier Leu5p and its human homologue graves' disease protein are required for accumulation of coenzyme A in the matrix. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:1089–97.
- [138] Fiermonte G, Paradies E, Todisco S, Marobbio CM, Palmieri F. A novel member of solute carrier family 25 (SLC25A42) is a transporter of coenzyme A and adenosine 3',5'-diphosphate in human mitochondria. J Biol Chem 2009;284:18152–9.
- [139] Baldet P, Alban C, Axiotis S, Douce R. Localization of free and bound biotin in cells from green pea leaves. Arch Biochem Biophys 1993;303:67–73.
- [140] Wada H, Shintani D, Ohlrogge J. Why do mitochondria synthesize fatty acids? Evidence for involvement in lipoic acid production. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:1591–6.
- [141] Vivekananda J, Beck CF, Oliver DJ. Monoclonal antibodies as tools in membrane biochemistry. Identification and partial characterization of the dicarboxylate transporter from pea leaf mitochondria. J Biol Chem 1988;263:4782–8.
- [142] Gueguen V, Macherel D, Jaquinod M, Douce R, Bourguignon J. Fatty acid and lipoic acid biosynthesis in higher plant mitochondria. J Biol Chem 2000;275:5016–25.
- [143] Meyer H, Meyer F. Acyl-coenzyme A carboxylase of the free-living nematode *Turbatrix aceti.* 2. Its catalytic properties and activation by monovalent cations. Biochemistry 1978;17:1828–33.
- [144] Henrikson KP, Allen SH. Purification and subunit structure of propionyl coenzyme A carboxylase of *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. J Biol Chem 1979;254:5888–91.
- [145] Hunaiti AR, Kolattukudy PE. Isolation and characterization of an acylcoenzyme A carboxylase from an erythromycin-producing *Streptomyces erythreus*. Arch Biochem Biophys 1982;216:362–71.
- [146] Scholte HR, Luyt-Houwen IE, Dubelaar ML, Hulsmann WC. The source of malonyl-CoA in rat heart. The calcium paradox releases acetyl-CoA carboxylase and not propionyl-CoA carboxylase. FEBS Lett 1986;198: 47-50.
- [147] Cronan Jr JE, Wallace JC. The gene encoding the biotin-apoprotein ligase of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1995;130:221–9.
- [148] Pendini NR, Bailey LM, Booker GW, Wilce MC, Wallace JC, Polyak SW. Microbial biotin protein ligases aid in understanding holocarboxylase synthetase deficiency. Biochim Biophys Acta 2008;1784:973–82.
- [149] Hu YH, Warnatz HJ, Vanhecke D, Wagner F, Fiebitz A, Thamm S, et al. Cell array-based intracellular localization screening reveals novel functional features of human chromosome 21 proteins. BMC Genomics 2006;7:155.
- [150] Mikolajczyk S, Brody S. De novo fatty acid synthesis mediated by acyl-carrier protein in *Neurospora crassa* mitochondria. Eur J Biochem 1990;187: 431–7.
- [151] Gurvitz A, Hiltunen JK, Kastaniotis AJ. Function of heterologous Mycobacterium tuberculosis InhA, a type 2 fatty acid synthase enzyme involved in extending C20 fatty acids to C60-to-C90 mycolic acids, during de novo lipoic acid synthesis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Appl Environ Microbiol 2008;74:5078-85.
- [152] Gurvitz A, Hiltunen JK, Kastaniotis AJ. Identification of a novel mycobacterial 3-hydroxyacyl-thioester dehydratase, HtdZ (Rv0130), by functional complementation in yeast. J Bacteriol 2008;190:4088–90.
- [153] Witkowski A, Joshi AK, Smith S. Coupling of the de novo fatty acid biosynthesis and lipoylation pathways in mammalian mitochondria. J Biol Chem 2007;282:14178-85.
- [154] Schonauer MS, Kastaniotis AJ, Kursu VA, Hiltunen JK, Dieckmann CL. Lipoic acid synthesis and attachment in yeast mitochondria. J Biol Chem 2009;284:23234–42.
- [155] Feng D, Witkowski A, Smith S. Downregulation of mitochondrial acyl carrier protein in mammalian cells compromises protein lipoylation and respiratory complex I and results in cell death. J Biol Chem 2009;284:11436–45.
- [156] Harington A, Herbert CJ, Tung B, Getz GS, Slonimski PP. Identification of a new nuclear gene (CEM1) encoding a protein homologous to a β-keto-acyl synthase which is essential for mitochondrial respiration in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Microbiol 1993;9:545–55.
- [157] Guler JL, Kriegova E, Smith TK, Lukes J, Englund PT. Mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis is required for normal mitochondrial morphology and function in *Trypanosoma brucei*. Mol Microbiol 2008;67:1125–42.
- [158] Carroll J, Fearnley IM, Shannon RJ, Hirst J, Walker JE. Analysis of the subunit composition of complex I from bovine heart mitochondria. Mol Cell Proteomics 2003;2:117–26.
- [159] Singh U, Jialal I. Alpha-lipoic acid supplementation and diabetes. Nutr Rev 2008;66:646–57.
- [160] Maczurek A, Hager K, Kenklies M, Sharman M, Martins R, Engel J, et al. Lipoic acid as an anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective treatment for alzheimer's disease. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2008;60:1463–70.
- [161] Soczynska JK, Kennedy SH, Chow CS, Woldeyohannes HO, Konarski JZ, McIntyre RS. Acetyl-L-carnitine and α-lipoic acid: Possible neurotherapeutic agents for mood disorders? Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2008;17:827–43.
- [162] Pepe S, Leong JY, Van der Merwe J, Marasco SF, Hadj A, Lymbury R, et al. Targeting oxidative stress in surgery: effects of ageing and therapy. Exp Gerontol 2008;43:653–7.
- [163] Challem JJ. Toward a new definition of essential nutrients: is it now time for a third 'vitamin' paradigm? Med Hypotheses 1999;52:417–22.

- [164] Fujiwara K, Okamura-Ikeda K, Motokawa Y. Purification and characterization of lipoyl-AMP: N epsilon-lysine lipoyltransferase from bovine liver mitochondria. J Biol Chem 1994;269:16605–9.
- [165] Fujiwara K, Takeuchi S, Okamura-Ikeda K, Motokawa Y. Purification, characterization, and cDNA cloning of lipoate-activating enzyme from bovine liver. | Biol Chem 2001;276:28819–23.
- [166] Morikawa T, Yasuno R, Wada H. Do mammalian cells synthesize lipoic acid? Identification of a mouse cDNA encoding a lipoic acid synthase located in mitochondria. FEBS Lett 2001;498:16–21.
- [167] Yi X, Maeda N. Endogenous production of lipoic acid is essential for mouse development. Mol Cell Biol 2005;25:8387–92.
- [168] Jarrous N. Human ribonuclease P: subunits, function, and intranuclear localization. RNA 2002;8:1–7.
- [169] Xiao S, Scott F, Fierke CA, Engelke DR. Eukaryotic ribonuclease P: a plurality of ribonucleoprotein enzymes. Ann Rev Biochem 2002;71:165–89.
- [170] Dang YL, Yeast MartinNC, mitochondrial RNase P. Sequence of the RPM2 gene and demonstration that its product is a protein subunit of the enzyme. J Biol Chem 1993;268:19791–6.
- [171] Rossmanith W, Karwan RM. Characterization of human mitochondrial RNase P: novel aspects in tRNA processing. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1998;247:234–41.
- [172] Puranam RS, Attardi G. The RNase P associated with HeLa cell mitochondria contains an essential RNA component identical in sequence to that of the nuclear RNase P. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:548–61.
- [173] Holzmann J, Frank P, Loffler E, Bennett KL, Gerner C, Rossmanith W. RNase P without RNA: identification and functional reconstitution of the human mitochondrial tRNA processing enzyme. Cell 2008;135:462–74.
- [174] Walker SC, Engelke DR. A protein-only RNase P in human mitochondria. Cell 2008;135:412-4.
- [175] Yang SY, He XY, Schulz H. Multiple functions of type 10 17 β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2005;16:167–75.

- [176] Hiltunen JK, Schonauer MS, Autio KJ, Mittelmeier TM, Kastaniotis AJ, Dieckmann CL. Mitochondrial fatty acid synthesis type II: more than just fatty acids. J Biol Chem 2009;284:9011–5.
- [177] Blumenthal T. Operons in eukaryotes. Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic 2004;3:199–211.
- [178] Spieth J, Brooke G, Kuersten S, Lea K, Blumenthal T. Operons in *C. elegans*: polycistronic mRNA precursors are processed by trans-splicing of SL2 to downstream coding regions. Cell 1993;73:521–32.
- [179] Davis RE, Hodgson S. Gene linkage and steady state RNAs suggest transsplicing may be associated with a polycistronic transcript in *Schistosoma mansoni*. Mol Biochem Parasitol 1997;89:25–39.
- [180] Ganot P, Kallesoe T, Reinhardt R, Chourrout D, Thompson EM. Spliced-leader RNA trans splicing in a chordate, *Oikopleura dioica*, with a compact genome. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24:7795–805.
- [181] Lee SJ. Expression of growth/differentiation factor 1 in the nervous system: conservation of a bicistronic structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991;88:4250-4.
- [182] Kozak M. Regulation of translation via mRNA structure in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. Gene 2005;361:13–37.
- [183] Gray TA, Saitoh S, Nicholls RD. An imprinted, mammalian bicistronic transcript encodes two independent proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:5616–21.
- [184] Sloan J, Kinghorn JR, Unkles SE. The two subunits of human molybdopterin synthase: evidence for a bicistronic messenger RNA with overlapping reading frames. Nucleic Acids Res 1999;27:854–8.
- [185] Stallmeyer B, Drugeon G, Reiss J, Haenni AL, Mendel RR. Human molybdopterin synthase gene: Identification of a bicistronic transcript with overlapping reading frames. Am J Hum Genet 1999;64:698–705.
- [186] Chen ZJ, Leskinen H, Liimatta E, Sormunen RT, Miinalainen IJ, Hassinen IE, et al. Myocardial overexpression of *Mecr*, a gene of mitochondrial FAS II leads to cardiac dysfunction in mouse. PLoS ONE 2009;4:e5589.